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Overview



A message from  
our Chairman

Over the past year more than 
1,500 people have been moving to 
Western Australia each week1 to 
enjoy a lifestyle and an economy 
that continues to inspire high levels 
of confidence. Low interest rates, 
low unemployment and a pipeline 
of major projects will support the 
State’s economic performance as we 
look to the future.

While there is a period of adjustment 
underway, the underpinning fundamentals 
are still strong. It remains an excellent time 
to be involved in land and infrastructure 
development in Western Australia. Seldom 
before has Western Australia been in a 
position where so much activity has the 
potential to redefine our future.

LandCorp focuses on State-wide business 
and community development, There is a 
lot of opportunity for Western Australia’s 
long-term growth potential to be realised 
in both Perth and regional WA.

LandCorp continues to assist in the 
development of rural and regional 
Western Australia through the 
Government policy for regional growth for 
opportunities to be available at the same 
rate as the metropolitan area.

Super towns, regional cities, small rural 
town development are some examples of 
the ways we can help the regions grow.

Understandably, at LandCorp we can’t 
do everything that is required in this 
space on our own but being part of this 
extraordinary growth is very gratifying. 
It’s also very challenging at a number of 
levels. 

Providing land and homes for the steadily 
increasing population requires some 
serious strategic planning. LandCorp has 
a very important part, to play in this 
challenge.

The demand for food, energy, water and 
appropriate levels of infrastructure will 

all become major factors in sustaining 
Western Australia’s future growth.

To successfully meet the growing demand, 
new technology, better research and 
greater investment will be crucial.

With the resource sector moving from 
an intensive construction phase to a less 
labour intensive operations phase, the 
challenge is to encourage investment at 
all levels to assist in diversifying business. 
This is the essence of the Pilbara Cities 
and SuperTowns initiatives.

Many individuals and organisations 
contribute: State Government, local 
Government, social demographers, urban 
planners and designers, engineers, energy 
and water providers, developers and 
builders. In fact, everyone involved in 
managing population growth is investing 
time and money into research and 
strategic planning to rethink traditional 
solutions and stimulate quality economic 
and social development outcomes. 

A challenging focus for LandCorp 
is our work to assist in meeting the 
Government’s housing affordability 
targets. Affordability is a complex issue 
which is not entirely driven by the cost of 
land or housing. There are many factors 
which contribute to a home’s affordability. 
As well as a plentiful supply of land in 
appropriate locations, construction 
materials, block orientation, flexibility of 
design and reduced energy, water and 
transport costs all combine to determine 
long term affordability for residential and 
commercial developments.

The establishment of larger regional 
towns and cities represents an 
important contribution to the long term 
sustainability of the State. However, as 
for the State as a whole, the economic 
and social success of key regional towns 
and cities will rely upon diversification to 
sustain good growth and employment in 
the future.

“ From an economic 
perspective, diversification is 
the key to sustaining growth 
and employment in the future, 
especially in regional WA.”
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We acknowledge and respect the 
Traditional Owners of this country and 
respect the diversity of its first peoples. 
We acknowledge the deep spiritual 
attachment and relationship of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 
to this country and commit ourselves to 
the ongoing journey of reconciliation.1 Source: Australian Bureau Statistics 2012.
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As we continually consider new and 
innovative ways to deliver developments 
that work at an economic, employment 
and social level, we build important 
relationships and partnerships with 
our many stakeholders, who are also 
active in this important area. That is 
why our reliance on a team approach to 
development has never been more critical. 

Our role is often one of facilitation, where 
we do the early work which allows the 
private sector to take over when the 
project becomes more viable. No greater 
example of this is our work in and around 
centres of activity in metropolitan Perth 
and the revitalisation of suburbs through 
infill development.

By creating vibrant communities around 
our existing transport corridors and 
amenities, we can help the Government to 
achieve affordability and density targets. 
What this often means though is that we 
are operating in areas of the market where 
the results, certainly in the early stages of 
a project, are not solely financial. Examples 
of this are projects that have exceptional 
long lead times and very little, if any, 
upfront return on investment.

Work with Reconciliation Australia and our 
commitment to Closing the Gap continues. 
We have created a partnership with the 
Civil Contractors Federation (CCF) to 
train local Aboriginal workers in regions 
where we are active. Not only are these 
workers excellent role models for the next 
generation, they are learning new skills and 
achieving financial independence.

A growing number of the Federation’s 
members are now subscribing to this 
employment philosophy.

In signing off for the 2012-13 financial 
year, I would like to acknowledge Premier 
Barnett and Minister Grylls and Minister 
Day for their continuing guidance 
and support.

LandCorp is one part of WA’s 
exciting development jigsaw. 
We are delivering quality land 
solutions for the future.  
By working together with 
other government agencies 
and the private sector we 
effectively combine our 
strengths and resources 
and increase our ability 
to deliver projects across 
Western Australia.

I extend specific thanks to my fellow 
Board members for their enthusiastic 
commitment and incisive input to all 
deliberations.

Finally, my thanks go to chief executive 
Ross Holt and his dedicated team who 
have worked hard to achieve some 
remarkable results and establish and 
develop the relationships that help make 
Western Australia a great place to work 
and live.

Monty House 
Chairman
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A message from our 
Chief Executive

Producing this annual report allows 
us to reflect and acknowledge the 
combined commitment required 
to tackle development in a state 
as geographically challenging as 
Western Australia.

This report aims to provide insights into 
how my team tackles these challenges 
head-on, the importance of good 
collaboration with government and non-
government stakeholders to achieve a 
shared goal: providing rewarding and 
enjoyable places for West Australians to 
live and work.

As the government’s state-wide 
development arm, we work with 
communities, local governments, Regional 
Development Commissions and the private 
sector – often all at the same time – and 
play a specialist role in projects from 
Kununurra to Albany.

We are a catalyst for private investment 
activity and apply our project management 
expertise to support infrastructure 
outcomes.

We operate on a commercial basis while 
balancing Triple Bottom Line outcomes, 
which take into account the social, 
economic and environmental impacts of 
our work. Like any commercial enterprise, 
we pay dividends and tax equivalents to 
the Government each year.

Perth and Peel, Mid West, Goldfields-
Esperance, Wheatbelt, South West, 
Gascoyne and Great Southern are all 
rich in projects that will deliver important 
infrastructure and lifestyle opportunities 
and secure Western Australia’s long term 
economic and employment growth.

Our work, whether in the metropolitan 
or regional areas, relies upon a good 
understanding of what is required to 
negotiate often complex processes and 
differing interests. Critical to our operation 
is the ability to balance risk and return 
as we support the engine room of the 
national economy. We are fortunate to 
live in the State that has been at the 
forefront of a resources-led response to 
the phenomenal growth seen in China and 
other Asian countries.

Our work across the length and breadth 
of Western Australia has one clear 
aim, to deliver tangible results in land 
and property development for the 
benefit of all West Australians. One of 
our ongoing priorities is to develop 
infrastructure to support community 
vibrancy, permanency and encourage more 
tourism opportunities. 

The revitalisation of regional WA includes 
sustained activity in Karratha, Hedland, 
Newman, Dampier, Tom Price and 
Onslow. We are working to ensure these 
communities are well placed to cater for a 
future population of 50,000 plus.

In 2012-13 we delivered 1,900 dwelling unit 
equivalents in metropolitan Perth and 660 
in regional WA to meet demand, as well 
as a range of employment land outcomes 
across the State. Key Government priority 
projects were advanced with all targeted 
milestones actively managed and achieved. 

Near record low mortgage rates and first 
homebuyers looking to get into the market 
meant many scheduled land releases 
were brought forward to meet demand. 
Residential land at Evermore Heights in 
Baldivis and Champion Lakes Armadale was 
released earlier than planned. This was on 
the back of strong sales at Alkimos, Perry 
Lakes, South Beach, Coolbellup, Coogee 
and Atwell.

In today’s market, diversity is critical 
to meet the needs of an ever-changing 
market. In the main, land purchase is 
about affordability and lifestyle but 
each purchaser has different needs.
Some are looking for apartments or 
small lots. Others seek traditional single 
residential lots in new or existing suburbs. 
While others are happy to have less garden 
to look after, because of their hectic work 
and social lives, especially if there are well 
designed and well maintained parks within 
walking distance of their homes. 

While LandCorp currently holds less 
than five per cent of the metropolitan 
land market share, there are many 
opportunities as a result of our 
commitment to provide a diverse range 
of housing options. 

Based on future population growth 
estimates, we anticipate demand for 
residential land in the short term to 
continue. Demand for land in outer areas is 
being supported through the development 
of high levels of amenity and employment 
land around key metropolitan and regional 
centres.

Alkimos and Mandurah Junction are good 
examples of communities which will attract 
residents because of the ability of their 
residents to work in locally based jobs in 
centres like Joondalup and Mandurah.
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By the end of this year, we can expect 
to see many more LandCorp releases 
offering greater diversity in pricing to 
meet a range of budgets including at 
Alkimos, Baldivis, Craigie, Coolbellup 
and Mandurah Junction. 

In addition, we continue to work 
across government on important infill 
developments at Perry Lakes, Fremantle, 
Carine and White Gum Valley. 

Work in and around Activity Centres 
at Murdoch, Claremont, Rivervale and 
Mandurah Junction will provide quality 
housing and amenities around key 
transport corridors and combines with 
our infill work to help the government 
meet the targets identified in its 
‘Directions 2031 and Beyond’ policy. 

Our work with the Department of 
Education to redevelop old school sites 
continues to open up opportunities 
for the private sector and has led to 
a number of government and private 
sector partnerships.

We continue to work with a range of 
organisations across the State: Lend Lease 
at Alkimos and Coolbellup, Satterley at 
Evermore Heights in Baldivis and Eglinton, 
Cedar Woods at Mangles Bay, Carine 
and South Hedland, Mirvac at Mulataga 
in Karratha, Finbar and BGC at Springs 
Rivervale, FJM Equities at Knutsford 
in Fremantle, Springs Rivervale and a 
joint venture to develop the Tambrey 
Neighbourhood Centre in Karratha was 
established with FJM Equities, Rapley 
Wilkinson and Rydale Holdings. 

In partnership with Stockland, 2012-13 saw 
the completion of the transformation of 
South Beach from an abandoned rail yard 
to a premium residential development. 
Working with Mirvac, we also completed 
our development of the former 
Swanbourne High School site.

In the delivery of economic and 
employment land, our focus is about 
providing land to better enable state wide 
economic and employment growth. A big 
part of our role is to act as a facilitator. 
We can’t deliver all the industrial land but 
we can encourage greater participation 
from the private sector by facilitating the 
planning and approval of industrial areas. 
The creation of jobs in locations such as 
Neerabup and Forrestdale is strategically 
important because it means that people 
can live and work in the same areas. 

As well as the master planned industrial 
precincts such as Latitude 32 Industry 
Zone, Australian Marine Complex and 
Meridian Park in Neerabup, with an eye 
to the future, we are working with the 
Department of Planning on the Economic 
and Employment Lands Strategy (EELS), 
which has identified 37 sites across 
Perth and the Peel region as future 
industrial estates.

This blueprint for economic and 
employment land supply is a first for 
WA. We are now investigating funding 
options that will allow work to begin on 
de-constraining priority sites at Pinjar, 
Whiteman, Bullsbrook and Baldivis. Early 
work on these locations reflects the 10 to 
15 year gap that normally exists between 
land identification and land development.

We continue to promote and implement 
the Regional Development Assistance 
Program (RDAP), an initiative designed 
to help generate development in smaller 
towns where it is not attractive for private 
developers to participate because of the 
high cost and lack of commercial viability. 
Through a State Government funding 
arrangement, RDAP allows us to develop 
land and make it available for residential, 
industrial and commercial purposes, which 
assists local governments to kick-start 
growth in areas where this would otherwise 

be difficult to achieve. The eventual aim is 
to enable developments in these towns to 
become profitable enough for the private 
sector to step in.

It is also important to acknowledge our 
ongoing efforts in the area of corporate 
social responsibility. We pursue this 
important agenda from a business and an 
individual perspective. We acknowledge 
and support the work undertaken by our 
many community partners, including, the 
Clontarf and HALO organisations.

In the second half of 2013, LandCorp staff 
will have the opportunity to become 
involved in building a home coordinated 
by Habitat for Humanity. Employees will 
also have an opportunity to support 
the broader community through a new 
‘corporate giving’ initiative. 

Themes which will gain traction in 2014 
will be a greater focus on engaging 
communities to hear their views for the 
future, to mainstream our strengths 
in the sustainability and design area 
and to expand our influence through 
greater de-risking and facilitation, to 
pave the way for the private sector to 
apply its skills and resources to deliver 
outstanding development outcomes for 
Western Australia.

In closing, I would like to acknowledge the 
LandCorp Board for their guidance and 
the LandCorp team who work hard to 
ensure LandCorp continues to complement 
and enhance Western Australia’s 
growth potential.

Ross Holt 
Chief Executive
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Our projects 
cover residential, 
commercial,  
industrial and  
tourism development.

Operating state-wide, 
our focus is about 
identifying, designing 
and implementing 
major land and 
infrastructure projects 
across the State. 

We aim to deliver  
land, property 
and infrastructure 
development which  
has a lasting and positive 
impact for all  
Western Australians. 

Our Role

Legislation 

Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992
Requires LandCorp to provide or promote 
the provision of land, infrastructure, 
facilities and services for the social, 
economic and environmental needs 
of the State.

Hope Valley Wattleup 
Redevelopment Act 2000
Requires LandCorp to plan, undertake, 
promote and coordinate the development 
and redevelopment of land in the Hope 
Valley Wattleup area in accordance with 
the approved master plan.

Perry Lakes Redevelopment  
Act 2005
Provides LandCorp with authority to plan, 
undertake, promote and coordinate the 
redevelopment of the Perry Lakes land.

Governance
We have implemented a strong culture 
of business planning, target setting and 
achievement. The Minister, along with the 
Treasurer, endorses our strategic direction 
by approving our five year Strategic 
Development Plan and Statement of 
Corporate Intent. The Board reviews 
LandCorp’s performance quarterly and 
the Minister and Treasurer are provided 
with half-yearly reports on performance.

We believe economic  
and social prosperity,  
along with environmentally 
sound development solutions, 
are important for all  
Western Australians.

Our overall objective is to 
identify and respond to 
Government priority delivery 
requirements and ensure 
Western Australia’s economic 
and employment growth is 
sustained long  
into the future. 
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Our Approach

Our commitment to sustainable 
development is underpinned by 
the WA Land Authority Act (1992) 
which requires us to take into 
account the social, economic and 
environmental outcomes of the 
work we carry out: 

To help us deliver this, we have 
developed an approach which focuses 
on four fundamental areas. 

•	 Culture	and	people - we are 
embedding sustainability into 
our culture to achieve a common 
understanding and philosophy 

•	 Collaboration	with	others - we 
are establishing and fostering 
partnerships and relationships in 
an effort to improve sustainable 
development outcomes 

•	 Corporate	strategy - we ensure our 
planning and reporting systems and 
processes support the achievement 
of good design and sustainability 
outcomes

•	 Projects - we work together to deliver 
an integrated, holistic and contextual 
approach to achieve the elements of 
sustainable development 

We have identified four key elements 
to help guide the achievement of 
sustainable development: 

•	 Community	wellbeing	
•	 Design	excellence	
•	 Environmental	leadership	
•	 Economic	health

These four elements provide the 
framework for the achievement of 
sustainable development across our 
projects in the metropolitan area and 
throughout the regions. This will provide 
the greatest opportunity to develop 
sustainable communities where people 
want to live, work and play and supports 
the Government’s plan to develop 
sustainable liveable communities.

9
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Creating communities that are 
safe, healthy and enjoyable 

places to live and work, 
with access to appropriate 

and affordable housing 
and creating opportunities 

to foster active local 
communities.

Protecting and managing 
natural systems, habitat 

and biodiversity, and 
efficiently and innovatively 

managing energy, water, 
resources and materials.

Maximising economic 
development opportunity, while 
optimising the environmental, 
social and economic benefits, 

in accordance with State 
Government policy.

A built environment 
that ensures attractive, 
accessible, adaptable 

places that contributes to 
a distinctive identity and 

sense of place.

Community 
Wellbeing

Environmental 
Leadership

Design	
Excellence

Economic 
Health



Accommodating Future Growth in and  
around Metropolitan Perth



Future Metropolitan Growth

Challenges

Developing communities for the 
future presents challenges at a 
number of levels. For some people 
change within their communities is 
difficult to accept. This is especially 
true when it comes to implementing 
Government infill targets in 
established communities. Of vital 
importance is the need to engage 
with local government and the 
communities they represent to 
gain their input and support. That’s 
why we make ongoing engagement 
and communication with existing 
communities a priority.

To complement that, best practice design 
is critical in delivering an increase in the 
number of dwellings and people living in 
already established suburbs. By ensuring 
that everyone has an opportunity to have 
a say about the infill process, Western 
Australia will be able to better cater for 
the accommodation needs of the future. 

An increasingly important component 
in supplying land is the need to address 
the issue of affordability. By considering 
diversity in block sizes and housing 
styles in each of our developments we 
can successfully cater for WA’s changing 
accommodation needs. 

By providing good quality medium to 
high density demonstration projects 
in transport corridors, and increased 
intensification through our urban renewal 
and infill projects, we can deliver a level 
of diversity needed to support the future 
accommodation needs across generations. 

1,900 
dwellings equivalents 
delivered across 
activity centre, infill and 
greenfield projects.

Over 80% of 
metro land delivered 
in partnership with 
the private sector.

45 
active projects.

Developing	over	

800 hectares 
across 12 partnering 
projects.

Perth is currently home to 70% of 
the Western Australian population. 
By 2031, the population of Perth and 
Peel is expected to be more than 2.2 
million - which equates to an extra 
550,000 people and approximately 
328,000 additional homes1.

In 2012-13, we were involved in the 
delivery of 45 active projects across the 
metropolitan area and they all shared 
a common goal, to provide connected 
living for the future and create places for 
people to meet, shop, explore and belong.

These projects range from infill 
development in existing suburbs where we 
are transforming redundant land that was 
once home to a variety of uses, into higher 
density, desirable places to live. Examples 
of communities emerging as a result of infill 
development include Coolbellup, Craigie, 
Fremantle, Carine, Girrawheen, Jolimont and 
Perry Lakes.

Similarly, work in and around centres of 
activity, sees us working with state and 
local government and the private sector 
to create communities with good access 
to public transport. Not surprisingly, living 
on the doorstep of a transit-oriented 
community where people also want 
to work and play appeals to a broad 
demographic – from young, professional 
singles and couples seeking to enter the 
property market, downsizers seeking low 
maintenance living, FIFO workers wanting 
lock and leave properties and investors. 

A number of thriving communities will 
emerge from our work around transit 
oriented development including Cockburn 
Central, Claremont on the Park, Springs 
Rivervale, Rockingham and the regional 
centre at Alkimos.

Important in meeting the lifestyle needs 
of a changing demographic is our work 
in greenfield development. This involves 
master planning communities so that the 
same level of amenity and connection 
will be available to people who want 
to live away from the hustle bustle of 
inner metropolitan Perth and establish 
their own community culture. These 
developments are an important part of 
our increasingly diverse community and 
are attracted to the coastal locations of 
Alkimos and Eglinton.

Through greenfield development we are 
also able to link workers to industries that 
require a lot of space, such as logistics 
and transport industries. Reducing the 
distance between where people live and 
work not only reduces travel time but 
can significantly increase productivity. 
That’s why many people are choosing to 
live at Alkimos because it puts them close 
to the expanding Neerabup Industrial 
Area, which will be a major centre of 
employment.

1 Source: Directions 2031 and Beyond, Department of 
Planning, 2010.

Meeting 47% 
‘Directions	2031	and	
Beyond’ infill target.
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We are currently involved 
in a number of major urban 
infill projects across the Perth 
metropolitan area. These will not 
only create vibrant places to live 
and work but appeal to a growing 
number of West Australians 
and new residents arriving from 
interstate and overseas.

Here’s a snapshot of some of the work 
we’re undertaking:

Springs, Rivervale  
Mixed	Use,	High	Density	
Development
•	 14ha	site,	five	kilometres	from	the	CBD

•	 Working	closely	with	City	of	Belmont	

•	 Private	sector	involvement

•	 Collaborating	with	Department	of	
Housing on a prospective affordable 
housing project

•	 Investigating	alternative	construction	
demonstration project

•	 Design	guidelines	in	place

Claremont	on	the	Park	
Activity Centre, Mixed Use 
Development
•	 650-750	homes

•	 11,700sqm	commercial	space

•	 2,600sqm	retail	space

•	 Georgiou	Capital	to	develop	the	first	
apartment building 

•	 Quality	outcomes	managed	through	
design guidelines

•	 Land	sales	provide	the	funding	to	
rebuild Claremont Football Club 
community facilities

•	 Community	engagement	throughout	
the planning and development 
process

Knutsford, Fremantle  
Urban Renewal, Residential
•	 21ha	former	industrial	area

•	 Potential	for	up	to	1,000	homes

•	 Stage	1	will	deliver	73	homes	

•	 Developed	as	part	of	a	private	sector	
partnership with The Knutsford 
Partnering Agreement (Georgiou, FJM 
Property and Mainpart Holdings) 

•	 High	architectural	and	environmental	
design standard

White Gum Valley  
Medium	Density,	
Demonstration	Project
•	 2ha	former	school	site,	yielding	

around 60 homes

•	 Developed	to	demonstrate	affordable	
and adaptable living practices and 
climate responsive design 

•	 High	level	of	energy	and	
water efficiency

•	 Currently	at	structure	planning	stage	

•	 A	Generation	Y	design	competition	to	
highlight design potential anticipated 
towards second half of 2013

Perry	Lakes	 
Urban Renewal, Infill
•	 15.5ha	site

•	 600	homes

•	 Complex	infill	

•	 Delivered	in	collaboration	with	the	
Department of Planning and Town of 
Cambridge

•	 Existing	design	guidelines	to	
manage outcomes

•	 Diversity	of	built	form	provided	in	
consultation with the private sector

Design	Excellence
We are working with:

•	 The	Department	of	Planning	and	
Planning Institute of Australia on a 
Professional Development Programe 
designed to achieve good levels 
of development intensity through 
excellence in design

•	 Design	leaders	such	as	AUDRC,	CBEH	
and architects to address design 
challenges related to medium density 
development, traffic, noise and 
pollution

•	 Working	with	Local	Government	to	
pursue infill opportunities along 
transport corridors

image to come

Designing for Diversity 
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Addressing Affordability

Greenfields and Infill 
Our key target aligns with the State’s 
Affordable Housing Strategy:

“ To dedicate at least 15% of 
our land and housing to 
supply affordable housing 
outcomes for those on  
low-moderate incomes”

In 2012/13:

•	 79%	of	LandCorp	lots	sold	across	
Perth were below the market 
median price

•	 38%	of	lots	for	single	dwelling	units	
(or equivalent lots) were sold at 
$194,5000 or less the current assumed 
affordable land price

Mandurah Junction
•	 Affordability	target	15%	

(well exceeded)

•	 10	lots	with	a	net	price	of	
approximately $129,000

•	 A	single	storey	house	and	land	costs	
between $272,500 and $299,349

•	 Average	price	for	a	two	bedroom	
unit is $240,000 under the shared 
equity scheme

Coolbellup,	The	Primary,	
Urban Infill
•	 Former	primary	school	site

•	 27%	of	house	and	land	packages	
delivered at an affordable price point 
below $380,000

•	 Developed	in	partnership	with	
Lend Lease

•	 Approximately	85	homes	in	total

Evermore Heights 
This nearly sold out estate comprising 
466 lots offers people the opportunity 
to live in an environmentally conscious 
community which promotes sustainable 
energy initiatives at an affordable price. 

With land priced at approximately 
$170,000 and an $11,000 Clever Build 
Bonus Package, Evermore Heights is the 
perfect option for price conscious buyers.

13
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Increasing Residential Land Supply

Alkimos Beach - Greenfields
•	 7,500	homes	over	710	hectares

•	 224	hectares	is	being	developed	in	
partnership with Lend Lease 

•	 The	first	stage	is	a	224	hectare	parcel	
of urban-zoned land that will deliver 
2,200 homes for up to 6,000 residents

•	 First	in	WA	to	be	awarded	all	six	leaves	
of the UDIA EnviroDevelopment tool

•	 Landform	retention

•	 Energy	Smart	Home	Package	Rebate

•	 Water	and	energy	efficiency	initiatives	
to reduce usage costs by up to 50%

•	 Future	Regional	Town	Centre	and	
railway station

Since market release in January 2013, 
sales of 116 lots at the Alkimos Beach 
Development, demonstrates an appetite 
for environmentally sustainable 
communities. Good sales in Stage 1 
provided a positive indication of future 
success for this unique development 
which embraces good design and 
sustainability principles.

14
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Mandurah Junction
In line with the State Government’s 
Directions 2031 plan, we are transforming 
a 15 hectare site located next to 
Mandurah train station into a high quality, 
residential development for up to 2,000 
people. The development will offer a 
vibrant community with a distinctive laid-
back Mandurah vibe that is pedestrian 
and bicycle-friendly with significant public 
open space featuring creative public art.

A variety of housing choices will be offered 
with an emphasis on high sustainability 
and efficiency standards to help reduce 
household energy consumption. Mandurah 
Junction’s proximity to the train station 
will also assist in reducing household 
transport costs.

Over the past 12 months we have 
completed construction of Stage One 
and working together with builders Niche 
Living and Impressions the Home Builders 
released very competitively priced house 
and land packages. The packages also 
offered eligible purchasers up to $43,000 
in rebates – $36,000 through the Federal 
Government’s Housing Affordability Fund 
and $7,000 for first homebuyers.

In April 2013, we called for expressions 
of interest from builders to develop 
a landmark building on the project’s 
signature mixed-use site. Located a 
short walking distances from the entry to 
the train station, the site has significant 

development potential for residential 
apartments and commercial floor space, 
with a building height of up to six storeys.

We were successful in a Federal Court 
challenge requesting a reconsideration 
of the level of assessment set for 
the Mandurah Junction project by 
the Commonwealth Department of 
Sustainability Environment Water 
Population and Communities (SEWPaC).

LandCorp confirmed we would ensure 
an appropriate balance between 
the residential development and 
environmental outcomes.

Mandurah Ocean Marina
The multi-award winning Mandurah 
Ocean Marina continues to set the 
bar for waterfront developments. It is 
now a major residential hub for people 
seeking a cosmopolitan, waterfront 
lifestyle, with spectacular views and close 
proximity to shops, restaurants and 
entertainment venues.

The marina features state-of-the-art 
facilities servicing over 600 recreational 
boats and up to 50 commercial 
fishing vessels.

The development has won 13 planning, 
design and marina awards, including two 
international design awards. 
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HIA new home sales figures 
revealed that following a very 
positive finish to the end of 2012, 
private new home sales in WA, 
rose again by 7.4% in January 
2013. Over the three months to 
January 2013, sales increased by 
7.6% to a level that is 15.3% higher 
when compared with the same 
period a year earlier.

UDIA	Urban	Intelligence	
revealed that in January 
and early February 
2013	land	sales	in	Perth	
and	Peel	were	off	to	a	
strong start, exceeding 
November 2012 highs.

According to the Real Estate 
Institute of Australia in 
December	2012,	the	proportion	
of median family income 
required to meet an average 
monthly home loan repayment 
in WA is now 22%, the lowest 
rate	since	December	2010.

Industry Snapshot

We recognise the 
importance of good 
collaboration between 
government, private sector 
and planning authorities 
to address increasing 
housing and land costs and 
ensure adequate supply of 
affordable land.
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Making room for Economic and 
Employment Growth



16 strategic 
industrial projects 
such as Collie Shotts, 
Kemerton and Onslow 
Ashburton North.

Economic and Employment Growth

An important role for our business 
is the provision of well-located 
and connected industrial land 
right across WA to create space 
for economic growth now and into 
the future.

Utilising the Economic and Employment 
Land Strategy (EELS), we are working with 
the Department of Planning and other 
agencies to plan for the long-term need 
for industrial land in Perth and Peel. 

We collaborate with industry to provide 
innovative, flexible solutions that suit their 
needs. It’s important that government 
continues to play a key role in helping to 
provide the right land, in the right place, 
at the right time. 

Our industrial estates help build more 
permanent populations, provide more 
commercial and industrial growth 
opportunities, as well as providing 
improved amenities and services.

Assets and facilities 
management at 
the Australian 
Marine Complex.

Sales of

 $83  
million for 2012-13.

16  
general 
industrial 
projects.

32  
active projects across 
Western Australia.

WA Business News Data

Long term strategic estates

Established

 Location Number of 
businesses

Direct 
employment 

Time 
commenced

Kwinana 
Industrial Area

Coast 350 7,000 1950s

Canning Vale South East 900 14,000 to 15,000 1970s

Enterprise 
Park

North 1300 11,000 Early 1980s

Australian 
Marine 
Complex

Coast 150 5,000 1980s

Source: Industrial Rule of Thumb model, commissioned by LandCorp, developed by Pracsys 2013 
Note: all numbers have been rounded 

Future developments  - projections 

Growth

 Location Potential 
number of 
businesses

Potential  
employment 
(direct) 

Future 
development 
opportunity 

Latitude 321 South 400 Over 10,000 30 years

Meridian Park2 North Up to 1000 15,000 20 years

Forrestdale3 South East Over 300 Up to 7,000 10 years

Note: all numbers are projections, and based on industry averages from the Industrial Rule of Thumb model and 
LandCorp estate knowledge

¹Capital intensive, therefore low employment per ha
²Meridian Park is similar in profile to Canning Vale, but bigger in size 
³ Forrestdale is similar to Malaga, but is strategically positioned close to transport 
and logistics as well as good access for local businesses 
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Perth	and	Peel

As the State Government’s 
response to an identified future 
shortfall in industrial land supply, 
EELS represents a coordinated 
and informed approach to 
employment and industrial land 
development. The plan is to ensure 
that adequate forward planning 
is undertaken to provide land to 
drive employment in the Perth 
metropolitan area and Peel region.

This work is a blueprint for industrial 
land supply with a focus on identifying 
and deconstraining land suitable for 
industrial activity for the long term, which 
then allows us to have an industrial land 
bank for the future and a key role in 
supporting proposed public and private 
developments.

Of the 37 sites the strategy identified, 
deconstraining efforts are now being 
concentrated on delivering the 11 sites 
listed below in order of priority so 
that land can be provided where it is 
needed first:

•	 Pinjar	South

•	 Whiteman

•	 Bullsbrook	South

•	 North	Ellenbrook

•	 Hazelmere	South

•	 Forrestfield

•	 Maddington/Kenwick	SEA

•	 South	Forrestdale

•	 North	East	Baldivis

•	 Nambeelup

•	 Greenlands	Road

From identification to development, 
industrial land delivery takes anywhere 
between 10 to 25 years. Good progress 
has been made with EELS, including the 
establishment of the Industrial Land 
Strategy Taskforce, the creation of a 
dedicated industrial team within the 
Department of Planning and engagement 
with the Property Council and Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry.

Latitude 32 Industry Zone
The 1,400ha Latitude 32 Industry Zone is 
expected to become one of WA’s largest 
industrial developments and create 
thousands of direct and indirect jobs, 
which will provide a substantial boost to 
the local and State economy.

Located within the Western Trade Coast – 
a cluster of strategic industrial areas that 
also includes the Kwinana Industrial Area, 
Rockingham Industry Zone and Australian 
Marine Complex – it is one of the largest 
master-planned industrial land projects 
ever undertaken in Australia. 

Once completed, it will provide more than 
a third of the new industrial land needed in 
the Perth and Peel region between now and 
2031. It will deliver a number of industrial and 
commercial precincts for general industry, 
transport industry, business park/light 
industry as well as catering for resource 
recovery and parks and recreational areas.

A major focus is to provide certainty 
to landowners and industry. We are 
undertaking detailed design and 
engineering work including: development 
levels, servicing, design and development 
cost planning in order to achieve 
this. Local structure planning is being 
fast tracked to prepare for defined 
development areas.

Economic and Employment Lands Strategy (EELS)

10,000  
potential jobs  
created at Latitude 32 on 
completion.

We expect completed local structure 
plans to be lodged with the WA Planning 
Commission by the end of 2014. 

An approved statutory planning 
framework including; development levels, 
servicing, design and development costs 
will ensure:

•	 Prioritisation	of	extraction	activity	for	
sites with high-grade resources 

•	 Confirmation	of	staging	and	timing	of	
extractive industry operations

•	 Identification	of	available	land	and	most	
efficient development staging scenario

These plans are expected to be finalised 
by the end of 2014.
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Meridian	Park
Another big growth area will be Meridian 
Park Estate, located within the Neerabup 
Industrial Estate, north of Wanneroo. We 
expect this area to have a similar profile 
to Canning Vale and be home to 1,000 
businesses and 15,000 jobs over the 
next 20 years. 

Forrestdale
 Forrestdale is targeted as a major 
growth area with projections that it will 
accommodate more than 300 businesses 
and 7,000 jobs over the next decade.

Australian Marine Complex
The Australian Marine Complex is a 
collaboration between LandCorp and the 
Department of Commerce and aims to 
contribute to the economic development 
of Western Australia by supporting four 
major industry sectors that have the 
potential to make significant financial 
returns to the State.

The State Government’s vision for the 
AMC includes the Common User Facility, 
a world-class centre of excellence for 
manufacturing, fabrication, assembly, 
technology, repair and maintenance and 

servicing activities in the marine, defence, 
oil and gas and mining industries. This 
vision and a $400 million government 
investment helped cement the AMC 
at Henderson as one of the States 
success stories.

Since opening in July 2003, the Common 
User Facility has delivered more than 
368 major infrastructure projects and 
$1.5 billion in revenue, that would have 
otherwise been lost to Australia.1

The facility includes a dredged, deep-
water harbour, a state-of-the-art 
fabrication hall, 40 hectares of laydown 
and construction land. It also has three 
wharves and a transport system for use 
with the floating dock.

Much of the infrastructure within the 
Common User Facility assists major 
projects such as Chevron’s Gorgon LNG 
Project, through transporting goods 
through the Service and Supply Base and 
the testing of subsurface equipment using 
the $60 million floating dock.

The Common User Facility is supported 
by other precincts within the AMC which is 
home to more than 150 businesses.

Strategic Industrial Areas
In helping to meet the growth needs of 
our State, we assist in delivering major 
projects by working closely with the 
Department of State Development to 
create suitable Strategic Industrial Areas 
(SIA) for oil and gas production and 
downstream processing. 

Engagement with industry is a critical 
function in the establishment of 
SIA. By better understanding the 
needs of industry, we can provide 
innovative, flexible solutions, ensuring 
business success. 

Another ongoing project is obtaining 
planning, environmental and Native Title 
approvals for Government priority SIA, 
including Ashburton North near Onslow, 
Kemerton near Bunbury, Anketell near 
Karratha and Boodarie near Port Hedland. 
These areas are vital in the delivery 
and processing of resources in each of 
their regions.

1 Source: AMC Management, Department of Commerce.

20

Economic and Employment Growth · Economic and Employment Lands Strategy



21

In regional WA, we are focused on 
delivering industrial land in fast 
growing towns like Karratha, Port 
Hedland, Newman and Onslow.

Burrup Industrial Estate
The Burrup Industrial Estate is a well 
established strategic industrial area 
offering vacant land for heavy industry in 
close proximity to extensive industrial and 
social infrastructure.

It is one of Western Australia’s most 
important SIAs and plays a major role 
in ensuring the economic prosperity 
of the State.

We are working with lead agency, the 
Department of State Development, to 
facilitate businesses and industry to 
move into the estate. Supported by the 
Department, LandCorp leases land to 
proponents for a defined term.

The estate includes 370 hectares of land 
on the Burrup Peninsula and provides 
land for downstream processing of the 
area’s natural resources.

The State Government has provided 
$184 million of multi-user infrastructure. 
This provides easy access to export 
markets through the Dampier Port. It is 
also home to Australia’s largest oil and gas 
resource development - the North West 
Shelf Venture LNG and Domestic Gas 
facility, operated by Woodside.

We currently lease land on the Burrup to 
Yara	Fertilisers	for	its	ammonia	plant,	to	
Woodside for its Pluto LNG Project and 
Yara	Nitrates	for	its	technical	ammonium	
nitrate plant.

Ashburton North Strategic 
Industrial Area
Ashburton North Strategic Industrial Area 
(ANSIA) is an 8,000 hectare Government 
priority project 12 kilometres south 
west of Onslow.

ANSIA will include a port, multi-user 
infrastructure corridors, future industry 
areas for downstream processing 
industries such as urea, methanol, 
ammonia and ammonium nitrate and a 
general industrial area.

The initial 100 hectare general industrial 
area will suit businesses providing 
goods and services to heavy industry 
within ANSIA. Construction of Stage 
One is expected to commence in 2014, 
with first lots available by the end of 
2014. Stage One works will include lot 
development, roads and drainage.

In December 2009, the Government 
allocated land within ANSIA to support 
Chevron’s Wheatstone project and 
BHP Billiton’s Macedon project. Both 
projects will benefit as businesses 
acquire industrial land in order to fulfil 
maintenance and construction contracts 
with these companies.

Economic Regional Growth

“ The State Government has 
provided $184 million of 
multi-user infrastructure. 
This provides easy access to 
export markets through the 
Dampier	Port.”
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Gap Ridge Industrial Estate
Located almost nine kilometres west of 
Karratha, Gap Ridge Industrial Estate 
comprises 260 hectares of industrial 
zoned land, yielding about 93 lots over 
five stages. The Stage One development 
is 110 hectares and we are working to 
release a further 50 hectares to ensure 
we keep up with current demand.

The estate supports the needs of the 
region’s oil and gas industries and lots 
are designed to suit industries requiring 
larger sites for manufacturing, assembly, 
laydown or storage.

More than 30 businesses have purchased 
within the estate, including Centurion 
Transport, Swire Oilfield Services 
and Metalcom. 

Ongoing land releases within the 
expanding areas in the North West 
also allows businesses to secure 
accommodation for their workforce.

Hedland Junction
Hedland Junction within Wedgefield 
Industrial Estate is 12 kilometres south 
of Port Hedland and five kilometres from 
South Hedland. This means it is ideally 
positioned to help small businesses 
capitalise on the demand created by Port 
Hedland’s robust resources industries. 
Hedland Junction will attract new 
businesses to the area and help with the 
expansion of existing Hedland industries.

The 200 hectare estate is suitable for 
the mining, construction and transport 
industries, small to medium businesses such 
as machinery sales, construction, builders, 
mechanics, trade services, developers 
seeking potential strata development 
and warehousing.
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“ Gap Ridge Industrial Estate 
comprises 260 hectares 
of industrial zoned land, 
yielding about 93 lots over 
five stages.”
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Regional	Development	
Assistance	Program	
delivers land in small 
regional communities, 
with 137 lots delivered 
in 2012-13 across 17 
towns.

Residential 
and light 
industrial land.

Range of mixed-use 
projects like Albany 
Waterfront,	Port	
Hedland Marina and 
Bunbury Waterfront.

89 active 
projects across 
the State.

The 2011-12 Regional 
Program	delivered

 1,660 
dwelling unit 
equivalents across 
the State.

Our work in regional 
Western Australia has never 
been more important. 

More than half of our projects 
are in the regions, where we 
are providing residential 
land to create new lifestyle 
opportunities and attract new 
residents as well as industrial 
land to generate economic 
growth, job opportunities and 
attract investors.

Our activity in regional Western 
Australia delivers land and infrastructure 
to maximise each region’s potential 
and create a legacy of sustainable 
communities for future generations.

In the 21st century people living and 
working in the regions want communities 
- not just places.

With major resources projects in 
development in the Pilbara and Kimberley, 
we have a strong focus on providing 
a choice of housing options, including 
affordable workers’ accommodation. 
We are also working to offer diverse 
housing and lifestyle options in the 
Gascoyne and Mid West.

Through the State Government’s Royalties 
for Regions program we are helping 
to revitalise town centres in Karratha, 
Newman and South Hedland.

Our role links us closely with a wide range 
of Government agencies, local authorities, 
regional development commissions, 
builders, developers and local businesses, 
Traditional Owners and residents who 
are all working to get the most out of the 
social, environmental and financial returns.

Through the Regional Development 
Assistance Program (RDAP), we have 
enabled and promoted growth by 
assisting over 50 local government 
authorities with the development of 
additional residential, industrial or 
commercial land.

Regional Western Australia
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Pilbara

The economic significance of the 
Pilbara continues to dominate 
the development landscape. 
In 2011, the Pilbara both on and 
offshore was responsible for 
$86.1 billion of minerals and 
petroleum production, 81% of 
total WA production value. 
By 2018, this figure is estimated 
to rise to $211 billion.1

The Pilbara produces approximately 

•	 95%	of	Australia’s	iron	ore

•	 70%	of	Australia’s	natural	gas

•	 85%	of	Australia’s	crude	oil	
and condensate

Currently, $109 billion worth of projects 
are committed in the Pilbara and more 
than $30.2 billion are under consideration. 
This level of activity is extraordinary and 
over the past four years, through growth 
plans and clear strategic direction, we 
have been able to more substantially 
normalise the Pilbara region in regards to 
supplying residential and industrial land.

For example, purchasers now have the 
option of choosing land in Karratha from 
multiple developers, with dozens of 
different house and land packages. They 
can even choose to live on the ninth floor 
in a luxury apartment complex, in the 
heart of a developing town centre.

The Pilbara housing market has now 
stabilised and rental costs have also 
decreased which is a promising sign of a 
more stabilised market environment.

This stabilisation is also reflected in the 
way sales are now conducted. Four years 
ago market conditions dictated that we 
offered land for sale via a ballot. Today, 
sales are being conducted in a traditional 
private treaty sales process.

What has been achieved?
In recent years a number of projects have 
been completed or are being undertaken 
in the Pilbara. They include: 

Karratha
•	 Karratha	service	workers	

accommodation

•	 Baynton	West	(complete)

•	 Baynton	West	Display	Village

•	 Madigan	Road	-	the	first	lots

•	 Mulataga	community	structure	plan

•	 Gap	Ridge	Industrial	Estate

•	 Karratha	Light	Industrial	Area	

•	 Planning	for	Anketell	Industrial

•	 Karratha	Town	Centre	revitalisation

Port Hedland
•	 Marina	planning

•	 Pretty	Pool	Estate

•	 South	Hedland	Town	Centre	
revitalisation

•	 East	End	Structure	Planning

•	 Wedgefield	Industrial

•	 Western	Edge	rezoning	and	partner	
appointment

Onslow
•	 Development	Master	Plan

•	 Subdivision	approval	for	first	lots

•	 In	principle	pre-funding	agreement

•	 ANSIA	development	plan

Newman
•	 Town	Centre	revitalisation

•	 Light	industrial	lot	release

•	 East	Newman	residential

We are part of the State Government 
team working with a range of partners 
to deliver priority projects in the Pilbara. 
Our shared vision is to ensure that 
the Pilbara is more than a mining pit 
and that the ambitious Pilbara Cities 
vision is realised. That is why a plan is 
firmly in place to guide the future and 
ongoing development.

1. Source: Pilbara Development Commission.
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Maintain the Vision
Pilbara Cities is a big picture vision that 
will be delivered over decades and 
through multiple investment cycles. 
Successfully implementing this vision 
will rely on a consistent strategic 
approach guided by a Governance 
Steering Committee. Throughout the 
implementation it will be important to 
avoid viewing the towns of the Pilbara as a 
collective because each town has its own 
different economic and social drivers.

Creating	Development	
Ready	Land	Pipeline
Maintaining a good supply of land is an 
interdependent process that involves 
coordinating Native Title, zoning and the 
assessment of its viability. Our goal is to 
identify land to ensure that in each town 
we have a three to five year supply of 
development ready land. This process is 
working well in Newman, Port Hedland 
and Karratha however there is still work 
to be done.

Native Title
Resolution of Native Title requires good 
coordination from within government. 
Native Title processes are critical to 
deconstrain land and more importantly 
the process provides an opportunity for 
Traditional Owners to benefit.

Private	Sector	Involvement
Critical to the success of Pilbara Cities is the 
role the private sector plays in the market. 
Ongoing support and involvement for 
developers and builders within the relatively 
new market environment is not without its 
challenges, however the private sector have 
risen to the occasion. In less than four years 
in Karratha, the number of builders in the 
North West has increased from three to 30.

To support this increased level 
of engagement, a flexible, timely 
procurement process is important. We 
need to make it as easy as possible for 
builders and developers to get involved in 
Pilbara Cities projects.

Community Engagement
The community, who will be the ultimate 
beneficiaries of the new Pilbara, need 
to be constantly informed about what 
is happening. Understanding what they 
want and listening to their views will 
help to positively drive the Pilbara Cities 
development process.

Innovation	in	Development
Because the Pilbara is a very different 
development environment when 
compared to the rest of Western 
Australia, new thinking to consider the 
cost and climatic implications of building 
is required. Similarly, we continue to 
encourage alternative construction 
approaches which consider unique 
climatic conditions through our work to 
establish a Pilbara Vernacular Handbook, 
which is aimed at guiding future built form 
in the region.

Infrastructure Supply
By maintaining regular contact with 
infrastructure providers and good 
collaboration with developers we can 
help inform long term infrastructure 
requirements and ensure power and 
water needs are advancing in line with 
land supply.

Next Steps
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Kimberley

The Kimberley is one of the State’s 
fastest growing regions. With a 
population of more than 34,0003 
people, the region is expected to 
grow to around 40,000 by 2026.4

To handle this growth, we are working 
closely with other State Government 
agencies and the region’s four local 
governments to meet immediate and 
long-term needs. Part of our role is to 
identify the community’s aspirations and 
link them to real long-term benefits.

Major government projects such as the 
Ord-East Kimberley Expansion project are 
vital to ensure the successful development 
of Australia’s north. At the heart of 
this exciting project is the awarding of 
13,500ha of agricultural land to a private 
developer which will see Kununurra 
grow from a regional town and move 
towards city status.

We have played a key role in successfully 
facilitating a development agreement with 
Kimberley Agricultural Investment (KAI) 
and land clearing has begun. We have also 
project managed the civil infrastructure 

work which will be completed by the end 
of 2013.

There will also be major investment 
to improve housing, hospitals, schools, 
ports and sporting facilities in the East 
Kimberley area, while people looking to 
buy land in Broome and Kununurra will 
have considerable choice. 

Delivering on the State Government’s 
commitment to prepare Broome for 
future expansion, our Broome North and 
Januburu Six Seasons residential estates 
offer young families new lifestyle choices.

The nearby Blue Haze light industrial 
estate will support Broome’s future 
business growth.

The social, environmental and cultural 
needs of smaller regional communities 
are equally important. Residential land 
and community facilities in Halls Creek, 
Fitzroy Crossing and Derby are also 
being delivered.

State Government 
investment of 

$311 million 
through Royalties for 
Regions program.1

National	Partnership	
Agreement between the 
State and the Australian 
Government realised a 
further investment of

$195 million in 
Federal funding in social, 
community infrastructure in 
Kununurra, Wyndham and 
surrounding communities.2

Current development  
is expected to grow the 
Ord Irrigation Scheme 
economy to 

$120 million a 
year by completion.1

Growing strategic importance 
of agricultural development 
of Australia’s north will double  
Ord Irrigation Scheme to

 29,000 hectares.1

1.  Source: Department of Regional Development
2.  Source: Department of Regional Australia Local 

Government, Arts and Sports 
3.  Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics 

Census Data, 2011
4.  Source: WAPC Tomorrow
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Broome North

Broome North is an exciting new 
development that will not only 
provide new housing options but 
also business opportunities, retail 
and community facilities for the 
future expansion of the town. 

The development will cater for the growth 
in population and the tourism industry as 
well as potential increased demand from 
the resources industry. Broome North will 
be home to around 13,000 people when 
fully developed.

To deliver this significant community, 
we are working in conjunction with the 
Shire of Broome, the Traditional Owners 
and private developers. Together, we 
will provide a range of housing options 
and more affordable house and land 
packages with a focus on designs that suit 
the West Kimberley’s climatic conditions 
and encourage innovation in construction 
and energy costs.

Waranyjarri Estate in Broome North has 
been designed as a great place to live 
but also aims to address some of the 
significant housing affordability issues in 
Broome. Stages 1-10 have embraced a 
number of initiatives:

•	 Provided	continuous	land	supply	and	
a diversity of lot sizes ranging from 
450sqm to 800sqm, including medium 
density lots for 4-9 dwelling unit 
equivalents have been received well 
by the market

•	 Over	the	past	18	months	median	
pricing for lots between 700-799sqm 
was $235,000, providing an affordable 
option for the people of Broome

•	 Zoning	that	supports	duplex	lots	
allowing for a greater number of 
dwelling units, smaller single storey, 
one bedroom, dual key products and 
possible opportunities for alternative 
tenures such as rent and strata, 
rather than the traditional green 
title ownership

•	 Foundation	Housing	and	Questus	
have taken up lots to support the 
delivery of the National Rental 
Affordability Scheme allocation to 
provide affordable rental housing

•	 One	lot	was	sold	at	a	discounted	
rate as part of an agreement to 
showcase the Foundation for 
Indigenous Sustainable Housing (FISH) 
charity home

•	 10%	of	dwelling	unit	equivalents	were	
sold to the Department of Housing

Januburu Six Seasons

A well-planned community 
development which includes 
400 home sites and is located 
right on the doorstep of 
Cable Beach.

The Januburu Six Seasons estate, 
near the southern end of the world 
famous Cable Beach, lays claim to being 
Broome’s greenest residential estate, 
proving the point by winning a UDIA 
Award for Excellence for Sustainable 
Urban Development.

To achieve this we worked with the 
Yawuru	Traditional	Owners,	the	Broome	
community and local builders to make 
climate sensitive designs that integrate 
energy and water efficiency, as part 
of the design guidelines. We even 
produced a book called Tree Talk to help 
residents identify suitable local plants 
for their garden.

Social and cultural history is also a key 
feature.	The	Yawuru	people	created	an	
intricate mosaic at the entry of the estate 
that tells the story of their traditional 
six seasons. There is also interpretative 
signage, plantings of the local bush 
tucker and a shade shelter designed as a 
community meeting place.

Flanked by Cable Beach and Minyirr 
Park, Januburu Six Seasons has set a new 
benchmark for sustainable residential 
development and will become a thriving 
community that will be home to around 
345 houses.
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The Mid West’s rapid mining 
export growth positions the 
region as a leading player in the 
resources sector, helping to drive 
the Western Australian economy 
and generating new growth 
and opportunities for the local 
community and the State.

Spanning coastal communities from 
Green Head to Kalbarri and more than 
800 kilometres inland to Wiluna in the 
Gibson Desert, the Mid West is as diverse 
as it is big.

Working alongside other State 
Government agencies, local authorities, 
the community and the Mid West 
Development Commission, we regularly 
seek their valuable insight and ideas.

Structure planning for the 6,400 hectare 
strategically-located Oakajee Industrial 
Estate, which will provide essential land 
for heavy, special and general industry to 
support the proposed deep water port, 
is complete. 

The completion of the final stage of Indian 
Ocean Drive is unlocking new tourism, 
employment and land development 
opportunities. As well as improving 
road connections along the central west 
coastline, it is also playing an important 
part in the region’s future development.

At Kalbarri, Green Head and Leeman, our 
residential developments are ready to 
meet demand for land.

We also have land available throughout 
the smaller communities of the Mid West 
including Cue, Eneabba, Meekatharra, 
Wiluna,	Mount	Magnet	and	Yalgoo.

Mid West

Geraldton
Geraldton’s planned infill projects Bluff 
Point and the second stage of the Batavia 
Coast Marina will help the city keep 
pace with the region’s needs, providing 
residential, tourism and commercial 
opportunities.

Batavia Coast Marina
Stage Two of Batavia Coast Marina 
development will see the amalgamation 
and redevelopment of land previously 
owned by the City of Greater Geraldton, 
Mid West Development Commission, the 
Public Transport Authority and LandCorp 
into a six hectare precinct between the 
Geraldton Central Business District and 
the Batavia Coast waterfront marina. 

Once complete, the redevelopment will 
offer a mix of commercial, residential and 
tourism developments within landscaped 
surrounds and public open space for the 
community to enjoy. 

While the project is still in its early stages 
of planning, over the past year, we have 
been conducting a series of investigations 
to better understand the environmental 
considerations of the site. This is 
necessary because the site was formerly 
used as a railway marshalling yard. It is 
anticipated that the investigation process 
will be complete by late this year.

Morawa
In the Mid West, we have been 
heavily involved in the planning and 
implementation of the Morawa SuperTown 
program. Working closely alongside the 
Shire of Morawa, we have developed the 
Morawa SuperTown growth plan and have 
been project managing the revitalisation 
of the town centre using $3 million in 
Royalties for Regions funding. A further 
$500,000 from Royalties for Regions 
SuperTown funding has been allocated, so 
that a feasibility study can be carried out 
into a solar power facility in Morawa.

With the Mid West 
population at nearly 

54,000 
and growing, our 
role is to meet the 
regions present and 
future residential and 
industrial needs.1

1. Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics Census data, 2011.
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GreenView at Karlkurla sets new 
benchmarks in diversity and design, 
with building guidelines focused on 
sustainability, energy efficiency and 
affordable living. In addition, GreenView at 
Karlkurla seeks to achieve virtually 100% 
water re-use through an innovative 
system which provides recycled water for 
public open spaces throughout the estate, 
as well as the adjoining golf course. As a 
result of increasing demand in 2012/13, 
Stage One has almost sold out. During 
the latter part of the year, work began on 
preparing the release of 33 Lots as part of 
Stage Two, including allocation for house 
and land packages.

Latest initiatives
During the next 12 months we are going 
to see major new infrastructure projects 
begin, including the next stages in the 
development of the Kalgoorlie Health 
Campus and the Eastern Goldfields 
Regional Prison, which will generate the 
need for additional homes during both 
the construction and operational phases.

Our current and future land releases 
are designed to meet projected demand 
as well as supporting housing diversity. 
We are also carefully monitoring 
where additional demand may arise to 
ensure future strategies are available 
to respond as part of a whole-of-
government approach.

In the Goldfields-Esperance region, 
three projects are being progressed 
or are in feasibility under the Regional 
Development Assistance Program (RDAP 
and local RDAP,) these include Kambalda 
light industrial and Esperance Sinclair 
residential, and Menzies light industrial.

Wheatbelt

At more than twice the size 
of Tasmania, the Wheatbelt 
is Western Australia’s third 
largest region.

Home to more than 74,000 people,2 the 
Wheatbelt stretches from the pristine 
coastline at Guilderton and Jurien Bay to 
the lush Avon River catchment at Northam 

and the mineral-rich eastern communities 
near Southern Cross and Westonia.

Our role is to support the economic 
and social development of the region, 
and to help create sustainable thriving 
communities.

There are few private developers actively 
supplying land throughout the Wheatbelt. 
That’s why we are working with the 
region’s local governments to fill the gap 
in available residential and light industrial 
land that is essential to building long-term 
sustainable communities.

We are also helping stimulate social 
and economic growth in regional towns 
through the State Government’s RDAP. 
We currently have approximately 30 
active projects, either residential or 
light industrial developments, under the 
RDAP initiative throughout the Wheatbelt 
and have land available for purchase in 
another 22 towns.

We are also assisting with the SuperTowns 
program. In the Wheatbelt, the identified 
SuperTowns are Jurien Bay and Northam. 
Planning for land development in these 
SuperTowns and surrounding Shires will 
help facilitate the growth of the Wheatbelt 
in years to come.

Cervantes
With the Indian Ocean Drive providing a 
direct link between Perth and Cervantes, 
reduced travel times could potentially 
increase demand for land in this 
coastal town.

Our Valencia Road residential 
development includes a number of 
fully serviced residential lots plus a 
grouped housing site. Lots have been 
planned to allow for sustainable living 
and all residential lots are subject 
to design guidelines and 36 month 
development conditions.

Light industrial lots are also available 
within the established industrial 
area of Cervantes. Potential uses for 
the lots include showrooms, fishing 
associated businesses, building trades 
and warehousing.

We are committed to supporting 
growth by creating modern, 
regional towns and cities with 
permanent populations and we 
are actively helping to provide the 
Goldfields-Esperance region with 
sustainable development and new 
lifestyle opportunities that extend 
beyond variable economic cycles.

Covering an area almost three times the 
size of Victoria, Goldfields-Esperance 
is the biggest of Western Australia’s 
nine regions, at more than 771,000 
square kilometres. Despite this geographic 
dominance, the region’s population of 
approximately 61,0001 accounts for less 
than 3% of the State’s total.

Most of the residents live in Kalgoorlie-
Boulder and Esperance, with the majority of 
the others in the resource towns of Laverton, 
Leonora, Ravensthorpe and Coolgardie.

Developments in Kalgoorlie’s north-west 
sector are providing a significant boost 
to housing and amenities, including new 
schools and a neighbourhood centre. 
A variety of lot sizes and a mix of homes, 
apartments and townhouses are generating 
keen interest among families and singles.

In the Goldfields-Esperance, the identified 
SuperTown is Esperance and LandCorp 
continues to offer support to the 
Esperance SuperTowns team.

GreenView at Karlkurla 
Positioned adjacent to Kalgoorlie’s 
magnificent new international-class 
grass golf course, GreenView at Karlkurla 
residential estate provides the Goldfields 
city with highly desirable lifestyle options 
through a range of housing choices.

Catering to the modern requirements of 
families, couples and singles, the estate 
offers large lots for family homes, smaller 
lots for townhouses and group lots for 
stylish apartment living. Many of the Stage 
One lots have views over the fairways.

Goldfields-Esperance and the Wheatbelt

Source 1: Goldfields Esperance Development 
Commission.
2 Australian Bureau of Statistics Census Data, 2011.
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South West

The South West is a popular 
destination for the region’s 
1.4 million visitors and 
163,000 residents.1

The South West spans 23,970 
square kilometres and with 
industries including mining and 
minerals, manufacturing, food 
and agribusiness, wine, forestry, 
fishing and aquaculture, the South 
West contributes more than $15 
billion to the Western Australian 
economy each year.1

Strategic planning linked to 
sustainability frameworks is seeing 
a range of projects underway 
which will meet the region’s 
current needs and support future 
housing, business and industry.

We continue to engage with key 
stakeholders including the City of 
Bunbury, the South West Development 
Commission and the community as part 
of work on the city-changing Bunbury 
Waterfront development.

Our Woodcrest Rise at College Grove 
estate in Bunbury is complete.

New job opportunities are being created 
through our development at Kemerton 
Industrial Park, which is already home 
to industries that support the thriving 
resources sector.

Our role in helping maximise Collie’s 
future as an industrial and employment 
centre has been both challenging and 
rewarding. Bringing together 250 hectares 
of land under a single title, we are helping 
to deliver the State Government’s vision 
for the heavy industrial park at Shotts, 
which will provide the necessary platform 
for future big business operations.

The South West SuperTowns include 
Collie, Manjimup and Margaret River. 
We helped project manage Collie on 
behalf of the Shire and are providing 
infrastructure support for Manjimup.

Koombana North on 
Bunbury Waterfront
The City of Bunbury is WA’s largest 
regional centre, offering all of the 
amenities, services and convenience 
of city living but with a more laid-back 
atmosphere and a very special added 
bonus - a pristine waterfront.

The latest planned development at the 
Koombana North precinct of the Bunbury 
waterfront will transform this already 
established, yet under-utilised, stretch of 
ocean front into a world class destination 
for visitors, new residents, businesses and 
the community.

The Koombana North development 
will consist of five sites and private 
developers will be invited to deliver 
mixed-use developments of four to six 
storeys that would have retail, office, 
restaurants and cafes on the ground floor 
and a mix of office and residential space 
on the upper floors.

In 2012/13, the Structure Plan and 
associated Scheme Amendment 
documents were advertised for public 
comment and subsequently submitted 
to the Western Australian Planning 
Commission for final approval. 

In the meantime, forward works have 
been endorsed by the City of Bunbury 
and were carried out to improve the 
adjacent foreshore area and prepare the 
development site for future construction. 
Improvements to the foreshore include 
a buried seawall and provision of better 
access for pedestrians and cyclists to the 
ski beach and neighbouring Marlston Hill.

1 Source: Southwest Development Commission.

Once landscaping is complete there will 
be a boardwalk and stretches of grassed 
areas featuring barbecues and picnic 
tables, with viewing areas overlooking the 
picturesque Koombana Bay.

Collie, Buckingham Way
Plans for a 259 home residential estate in 
Collie have progressed following approval 
of the Buckingham Way Structure Plan.

Buckingham Way aims to provide a 
well-integrated, quality estate that will 
offer contemporary and affordable 
country living options whilst blending 
in with the area’s environmental and 
social characteristics. 

Features include the retention of 
8.2 hectares of native bushland in the 
development, a ‘green spine’ which 
connects to existing public open space 
south of the site, three active parks, and 
walking and cycling trails. Almost one third 
of the site will be retained as either public 
open space or preserved vegetation.

Located on an almost 40 hectare parcel of 
land, north east of the Collie townsite, the 
estate will underpin Collie’s growth as a 
SuperTown by ensuring quality residential 
land is available within the townsite to 
help the Shire and local businesses to 
attract and retain local workers.

Importantly, Buckingham Way will bring 
affordable living choices to families, 
couples and singles, and will help meet 
future accommodation needs as more 
big businesses establish operations 
in the Shotts Industrial Park and 
surrounding areas.
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Albany Waterfront

Albany’s naturally stunning 
Princess Royal Harbour is home to 
one of the most significant projects 
that the City of Albany has had in 
many years, the transformation 
of the waterfront. 

In partnership with the City, 
Great Southern Development 
Commission, the Department 
of Transport, the Albany Port 
Authority, and a range of 
community members, we have 
revitalised the old industrial 
area to create a world class 
waterfront that reconnects the 
city with its foreshore.

Five zones were created in the 
Albany Waterfront, these include 
an entertainment precinct, tourism 
accommodation precinct, commercial 
precinct, an expandable 74-pen marina for 
small vessels and the jetty precinct. 

Over the past 12 months, landscaping 
work and the installation of public art has 
been completed, and together with the 
fully operational and magnificent Albany 
Entertainment Centre and the adjacent 
Peace Park, the Albany Waterfront has 
already become a popular destination for 
major community and business events.

The next steps for the full build-out 
of the foreshore is the establishment 
of a wine bar and restaurant near the 
jetty and water’s edge, which went 
through approvals this past year, and 
the securing of a developer/operator to 
establish a quality tourist accommodation 
on the waterfront.

On behalf of the State 
Government, LandCorp 
put the hotel site to market 
last year, and is pursuing 
discussions with a potential 
proponent. 

The final three sites in the development 
includes a commercial retail site that will 
be used for office space and shops. The 
other two sites will be a mixture of ground 
floor commercial retail with the potential 
for more tourist accommodation above.

Katanning
In the Great Southern, we have been 
closely involved in planning and 
implementation of the Katanning 
SuperTown program. In the support of the 
Shire of Katanning and working alongside 
the Great Southern Development 
Commission (GSDC), we have assisted 
in the development of the Katanning 
SuperTown growth plan. We have been 
providing project management advice on 
the revitalisation of the town centre and 
initiatives for community development 
and cultural support through $8.955 
million in Royalties for Regions funding. 

Great Southern
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Under the Government Services 
Program, both State and local 
government agencies are able to 
benefit from LandCorp’s expertise 
in a variety of disciplines.

LandCorp is project managing 
contamination investigations at the former 
Albany Gasworks and cannery sites, A Fire 
and Emergency Services training centre, 
the former Pesticide safety unit of the 
Department of Health and the former 
Waste Control site in Bellevue.

We also undertake the disposal of surplus 
government assets under the State’s 
Property Asset Clearing House. This 
involves securing appropriate approvals 
to maximise the returns for the State.

Project management services are 
provided for projects as significant as 
Perry Lakes and Browse Basin. Services 
also include the decontamination of 
land which originally served a different 
community function prior to beginning its 
new residential or industrial life.

For the Ord East Kimberley Expansion, 
we have provided project management 
expertise for the civil works construction 
phase. We have also been central in 
negotiating a development agreement 
with Kimberley Agricultural Investments.

Property Advisory and Management Services 
to Government

Port	Geographe
LandCorp was formally engaged by the 
Department of Transport to assist the 
State (and City of Busselton) by providing 
land development feasibility advice 
for the Port Geographe development, 
having regard for the coastal works and 
the Artificial Water Body Management 
Plan (AWBMP) studies undertaken by 
the Department of Transport to resolve 
coastal environmental issues that caused 
the Port Geographe development to 
stall. Additionally, this role included 
representation on the Government’s 
Port Geographe Interagency Steering 
Committee (PGISC), chaired by the 
Director General of Transport and 
supported by senior Transport staff and 
consultants.

FESA	Hotel	Development	
opportunity

As part of a Cabinet decision to 
incentivize the development of hotels in 
the CBD, Tourism WA identified Fire & 
Emergency Services Authority House and 
the adjoining Perth Chest Clinic as surplus 
properties suitable for a mixed use hotel 
redevelopment. 

Tourism WA engaged LandCorp to 
undertake the expression of interest and 
request for proposal processes which 
involved:

•	 presenting	the	opportunity	to	the	
Australian and International markets

•	 short-listing	proponents

•	 evaluating	the	proposals	selected	and

•	 negotiating	commercial	terms	and	
performance contracts with the 
preferred proponent.
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Our sustainability journey 
continues to evolve as we monitor 
the latest research and trends 
so that we can improve our 
own practices and processes to 
ensure sustainable development 
is at the forefront of our 
development practices.

Sustainability has always been integral to 
the way we consider land and community 
development. However, we are now 
taking an important step in our journey 
with a commitment to develop our first 
Sustainability Report at the end of the 
2013/14 financial year.

Sustainability reporting involves 
measuring, disclosing and being 
accountable to internal and external 
stakeholders about our performance in 
achieving our sustainable development 
goals. This report will include our 
economic, environmental and 
social impacts.

An increasing number of organisations 
are establishing, or have already started 
sustainability reporting, especially in 
the land development industry. We will 
be joining this group in the near future. 
We are pleased to be embarking on 
this sustainability reporting journey 
and believe that adopting it will add 
value to our business and will further 
demonstrate our commitment to 
sustainable development.

Our sustainable development 
approach is important as we tackle the 
sometimes complex urban and regional 
planning challenges including changing 
demographic trends, environmental 
limits, economic changes, housing supply 
and affordability, and transport and 
infrastructure demands.

We will use the Global Reporting Initiative 
(GRI) Sustainability Reporting Guidelines 
to model our sustainability reporting 
process. GRI is a comprehensive voluntary 
standard used widely around the world, 
and provides credibility, consistency and 
comparability.

In the coming year we will develop our 
sustainability reporting process based on 
the GRI Framework. This will involve the 
following steps:

•	 Prepare: We will plan our 
Sustainability Reporting process 
and assess the key economic, social 
and environmental impacts of 
our activities

•	 Connect: We will talk and listen to our 
stakeholders about our key impacts

•	 Define: We will identify the most 
important and significant indicators, 
so we can focus our efforts on the key 
economic, environmental and social 
goals and indicators 

•	 Monitor: We will ensure our processes 
and systems allow us to collect and 
track the required information, and 
we will continue to monitor the 
results. We will use the results to 
inform our strategy as well as to input 
into our report

•	 Report: We will share our 
reporting journey and results 
with our stakeholders 

Design, Sustainability and Innovation
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Resources Toolbox 

To support our sustainability 
approach we have developed a 
suite of policies and processes to 
help guide what we do:

•	 Climate	Responsive	Design policy 
seeks to provide industry leadership 
through ensuring that all subdivision 
projects maximise the opportunity to 
deliver climate responsive subdivision 
design in public realm and buildings

•	 Landform and Biodiversity 
Retention policy seeks to optimise 
opportunities to retain natural land 
form and biodiversity in our land 
development projects 

•	 Affordability policy provides our 
corporate direction to implement 
strategies to bring affordable land to 
the market and tenants. The Policy 
focuses on Affordable Housing and 
Affordable Living, which include 
the ongoing living costs including 
electricity, water and transport 

•	 Urban Water Management policy 
ensures that all land development 
projects achieve better urban water 
management through application of 
best practice integrated water cycle 
management and water sensitive urban 
design principles at all stages of the 
land development process

•	 Climate	Change	Policy	statement 
outlines our commitment to addressing 
climate change through mitigation 
and adaption. The policy statement 
has a focus on: higher density transit 
oriented urban development; climate 
responsive design; exploring renewable 
energy sources; reduction of potable 
water use; retaining vegetation and re-
vegetation to offset carbon emissions; 
measuring and reporting on energy; 
and encouraging sustainable staff 
behaviours at work 

•	 Reconciliation	Action	Plan	(RAP)	
is designed to build and promote 
positive relationships between 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
people. Our RAP forms part of a 
broader national effort to close the 
17 year life expectancy gap between 
Indigenous and non-Indigenous 
children. Over time, the initiatives 
within this RAP will grow and evolve 
as new opportunities are identified 
and developed. Our RAP has a land 
and property development focus and 
contains specific performance targets 

•	 Design	Guidelines	template system 
generates project specific design 
guidelines for each climate zone in 
Western Australia. These guidelines 
provide information on local climate 
and appropriate place-based design 
response, including specific criteria 
for building performance and 
landscape design 

•	 Project	Design	Review process 
improves the quality of design and 
sustainability in urban and regional 
areas through the support, advice and 
engagement of independent industry 
professionals to review projects at key 
stages of planning and development 

Pilbara	Vernacular	
Handbook
In 2012, LandCorp developed the 
Pilbara Vernacular Handbook to better 
inform future development projects 
in the region. The handbook has been 
designed to support the Pilbara’s land 
and property development industries 
and to provide guidance to planners, 
urban designers, architects, engineers and 
builders. It brings together a collection 
of considerations and strategies that can 
help to improve design outcomes and 
mobilise change through the application 
of key principles that:

• Respond to the climate

• Incorporate the natural landscape

• Build on the local character 
and identity

In addition, we are collaborating with 
other agencies to improve outcomes: 

PrecinX
PrecinX is a planning and design tool 
that analyses the potential sustainability 
of large master planned and mixed-use 
development projects during the early 
stages of planning and design.

PrecinX was developed by Landcom 
(now Urban Growth NSW). The tool 
has been adapted for WA conditions 
and made available under licence 
to LandCorp for use at Alkimos and 
Cockburn Central West.

GREENSTAR COMMUNITIES
GreenStar Communities Pilot Rating 
Tool, developed by the Green Building 
Council of Australia (GBCA), is one of 
Australia’s first fully independent national 
sustainability rating tools for communities. 
LandCorp is a sponsor of the tool and 
will be trialling Alkimos using the Pilot 
tool during 2013. 

CRC for Water Sensitive Cities
LandCorp is a partner in the  
Co-operative Research Centre (CRC) for 
Water Sensitive Cities. The CRC is a nine 
year national research program to help 
make Australian Cities more resilient and 
adaptive to climate change.
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Example	1: 
Project	Design	Reviews
The purpose of Project Design Reviews 
is to improve the quality of design and 
sustainability in urban and regional 
areas through the engagement of 
independent industry professionals who 
review projects at key stages of planning 
and development:

•	 The	Project	Design	Review	process	
is well recognised, nationally and 
internationally, as a tool for the 
improvement of project outcomes 
by providing a fresh pair of eyes that 
can subjectively and independently 
critique development projects 

•	 For	major	LandCorp	projects,	
independent panellists are engaged 
to participate in Project Design 
Reviews at key stages of the 
project’s development

•	 The	focus	of	the	design	review	is	
to critique the project and identify 
any gaps in the design concept or 
key sustainability issues that require 
further consideration

•	 Since	the	inception	of	the	Project	
Design Review process a total of 30 
projects of varying scales have been 
reviewed across the metropolitan, 
regional and industrial program 

•	 We	have	recently	reviewed	the	
Project Design Review Process and 
identified the most common themes 
that surface during reviews, these 
included: architecture and built form; 
urban structure connectivity and 
legibility; land use mix; public open 
space and streetscapes; landscape, 
topography and trees. This will help us 
to continue to identify improvement 
opportunities in our processes 

Example	2: 
Pilbara	Vernacular	
Handbook
The launch of the Pilbara Cities 
vision in November 2009 proposed 
a complete transformation of towns 
across the region and to establish 
communities that will attract people from 
Australia and overseas. 

The transformation required is broad in 
scope and includes major restructuring 
and activation of town centres, increased 
densification, renewal of existing 
residential areas, and new residential, 
commercial and industrial releases. 

In response, we created the Pilbara 
Vernacular Handbook to better guide 
future Pilbara projects - a handbook 
which we hope other State and Local 
government and private organisations 
may benefit from. The handbook doesn’t 
impose statutory assessments or create 
extensive administrative imposts. Instead, 
this document brings together a collection 
of considerations and strategies that can 
guide developers to improve built form in 
the region by: 

•	 Responding	to	climate

•	 Incorporating	the	natural	landscape

•	 Building	on	the	Pilbara	character	
and identity 

•	 Mobilising	for	change	and	innovation

Focus on implementing the Pilbara 
Vernacular Handbook continues as we 
work with government stakeholders and 
builders to identify opportunities to 
implement the Pilbara Vernacular principles 
and outline climate responsive design to 
land purchasers to ensure they can take 
advantage of the subsequent benefits.

Putting it into Practice
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Example	3: 
Affordable Housing 
and Living
An increasing number of West Australians 
are experiencing housing stress, where 
their mortgage or rent payments exceed 
30% of their gross household income. As 
the cost of electricity, petrol and water 
increases, affordable housing and living 
presents a major challenge not just in WA 
but right across Australia.

Our objective is to deliver homes that are 
appropriately priced for key workers and 
households on low-to-moderate incomes. 
These include rental accommodation and 
low cost house and land packages that would 
support the growth of Western Australia.

For instance, the growth of Onslow has 
largely been driven by LNG projects in the 
area. This has not only driven the need for 
traditional lots but also smaller products for 
key and transient workers. LandCorp has 
considered this in its development planning 
by prioritising the delivery of affordable 
housing and living in Onslow through:

•	 Supporting	the	Department	of	
Housing to deliver residential 
accommodation for government 
workers, such as teachers and nurses 
through land supply.

•	 Supporting	the	Department	of	
Housing and the Pilbara Development 
Commission by providing residential 
accommodation for people who 
deliver key services in Onslow. 
A request for information from 
local businesses to nominate 
employees for future service worker 
accommodation was managed by the 
Department of Housing.

•	 Creating	a	diverse	range	of	lot	sizes,	
including smaller, more affordable 
lots. This will help support long-
term affordable housing in Onslow 
both for home ownership and 
rental accommodation.

•	 Facilitating	affordable	homes	and	
an increase in builders operating in 
Onslow, to increase the diversity of 
housing types and consideration of 
other opportunities for affordable 
house and land packages. 

•	 Thirteen	grouped	housing	sites	have	
specifically been designed in the Stage 
One subdivision to allow for low-
medium density 1, 2 and 3 bedroom 
apartments. The variation to the 
R-Codes which reduces the leasing 
restrictions for ancillary dwellings, will 
provide additional rental opportunities 
and mortgage offset for home owners 
and options for local businesses 
looking to house their workforce.

•	 Demonstrating	and	trialling	new	ideas	
to reduce the cost of running a home.

•	 Ensuring	connection	with	the	town	by	
developing the land adjoining it in the 
first stage and providing shaded paths 
that encourage walking and cycling to 
reduce car use.

Across the program we have set a target 
to supply 15% of our land and housing to 
affordable housing outcomes. In 2012/13:

•	 79%	of	lots	sold	across	WA	were	
below the market median lot price

•	 38%	of	lots	for	single	dwelling	unit	
equivalents lots across Western 
Australia were sold at $194,500 or 
less, the current assumed affordable 
land price

•	 2%	of	our	residential	land	transactions	
were to the Department of Housing

Example	4: 
Office Refurbishment 
Reduced energy use, end of trip 
facilities, air quality, staff satisfaction 
levels were all critical factors that were 
taken into account during our recent 
office refurbishment.

Information from a staff survey conducted 
at the completion of the refurbishment 
found that staff satisfaction increased in 
regards to the new layout as a result of 
better external views, access to natural 
daylight, greenery in the office and a 
better ability to interact with colleagues.

The new fit out achieved a number of 
sustainability initiatives which included:

•	 Energy	efficient	lighting

•	 Recycling

•	 Greenery/plants

The fit out has been submitted to the 
Green Building Council of Australia for a 
4-star Green Star Interior Design rating, 
and was a finalist in the Property Council 
Award for Best Workplace Project (Office 
Refurbishment).
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Project	Examples:	 
Alkimos – Sustainability  
at a Subdivision and 
Household Scale

The vision behind Alkimos was 
for it to be a leading example of 
sustainable urban development. 
We wanted to create a master-
planned coastal community of 
global significance that is moving 
towards carbon-neutral living. 
The objectives behind Alkimos 
include green power, smart water, 
connectivity, community wellbeing 
and distinctive design.

Alkimos Beach has already been awarded 
all six leaves of the Urban Development 
Institute of Australia’s EnviroDevelopment 
Sustainability rating tool. This tool 
recognises sustainable developments 
across Australia. Alkimos Beach is the 
first in Western Australia and one of 
the largest developments nationally 
that has received all six leaves. Under 
the EnviroDevelopment tool each leaf 
represents the achievement of certain 
targets and standards for ecosystems, 
waste, energy, materials, water and 
community. This is a first for Western 
Australia and using the PrecinX Tool it is 
estimated the development will reduce 
household energy costs by more than 50%.

These energy cost savings and affordable 
housing will assist affordable purchase 
and living.

The development of the Alkimos regional 
centre will seek to incorporate the 
establishment of community facilities such 
as a library, community centre, regional 
indoor and outdoor recreation facilities. 
It is intended that the regional centre 
will attract essential services for the 
community, including medical, social, key 
government services as well as tertiary 
education facilities. 

A marina would add major public 
facilities such as boat pens and boat 
launching ramps as well as retail and 
hospitality opportunities. 

Alkimos Beach will be a diverse and 
inclusive community that actively supports 
people from different age groups 
cultures, faiths and abilities. Creativity and 
innovation will set Alkimos Beach apart 
through a committed focus on education 
and localised research. 

Importantly, Alkimos Beach will be a well-
connected community, providing residents 
with the structures and support to engage 
in decision making about their community 
and encouraging them to participate in a 
range of activities.

To ensure that the development can move 
towards carbon neutrality, multiple energy 
management factors were considered 
and planned for in the opening stages 
of Alkimos Beach but in a practical 
and cost efficient manner, such as the 
provision of PV panels. 

Strategic waste and materials initiatives 
will be delivered with the aid of a locally 
based preferred materials list and a 
construction and community operations 
waste management plan.

Over 30% of the first 224 hectare 
stage will be reserved for open space, 
environmental corridors, bushland 
reserves, parks, landscaped areas and 
playing fields, while the distinctive design 
behind Alkimos will facilitate active living, 
promote safety and a sense of comfort 
and security. 

An integrated public transport system is 
being explored, with early options being 
to link in with the nearest rail station at 
Butler, which is 2.5 kilometres away, by 
December 2014.

Employment is another key focus at 
Alkimos Beach, with an emphasis on the 
creation of on-site jobs to assist with the 
Alkimos and Eglinton region’s target for 
60% employment self-sufficiency.
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Gaining Insights through Research



Our market research team 
continues to support the 
business in providing data and 
insight which allows us to better 
understand our customers’ 
needs and attitudes towards our 
organisation, our current projects 
and future development.

Over the past year, 25 pieces of 
primary research were conducted, 158 
pieces of desk research, seven external 
speakers were invited to present to 
staff and two pieces of modelling work 
were undertaken. 

The research team has also worked in 
collaboration with other government 
bodies in relation to the management of 
research projects and knowledge sharing. 

These are an example of our market 
research activities: 

Western Trade Coast 
Integrated	Assessment:	
Economic, Social, 
Environmental Impact 
This is a multi-departmental 
interdisciplinary project, funded by the 
Western Trade Coast Committee. It is 
comprised of LandCorp, Rockingham 
Kwinana Development Office, the 
Department of Commerce, the 
Department of State Development and 
the Kwinana Industrial Council and is 
project managed by LandCorp Research. 

The outcome of the project will provide 
the Western Trade Coast with a platform 
that demonstrates the economic and 
social benefits of the Western Trade 
Coast, whilst identifying issues that need 
to be addressed in order to achieve the 
full benefits of the Western Trade Coast.

Mandurah Junction 
commuter survey
As work on the development of an activity 
centre at Mandurah Junction continues, it 
was important to understand what sorts 
of commercial services and community 
events local residents considered 
important to support their lifestyle. 

A survey was conducted with Mandurah 
train commuters to prioritise commercial 
services and community events. 

Waikiki 
Planning for our residential estate in 
Waikiki required an understanding of 
customer behaviour. It was also important 
to determine the kinds of landmarks and 
appealing aspects within the estate that 
would attract potential purchasers. 

To answer this question, the research 
team spoke to 259 local residents 
and conducted desktop research to 
understand the profile of the target 
market and attractions of Waikiki. 

South Yanchep
Ongoing development of a residential 
estate	in	South	Yanchep	required	an	
understanding of what types of housing 
to include in the estate and also how it 
should look and feel.

Desk research was conducted to 
determine the types of housing that 
currently existed. While focus groups were 
conducted to understand the types and 
styles of housing that potential customers 
would be interested in buying. 

Industrial Rule of Thumb
Important in understanding the 
requirements for future land use is 
research to develop an economic rule of 
thumb model that provides economic and 
employment data for each of our strategic 
industrial estates, as well as private 
industrial developments. This model has 
been developed in conjunction with an 
economic consultant using data from 
the Australian Bureau of Statistics and 
Department of Planning as well as our own 
data. The model aims to provide a guide to 
the economic benefits each estate brings, 
as well as benchmarking our performance.

Insights and Research
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Business and Community Partnerships



People are the lifeblood of every 
community – they reflect its spirit, 
values and create the future.

Through our community partnerships 
we are fortunate to support a diverse 
range of programs, project and events 
throughout Western Australia in the areas 
of health, environment, education, arts 
and sports.

Some of our business 
partnerships	include:

Urban Development Institute 
of Australia (UDIA)
For the past ten years we have supported 
UDIA in their advocacy role in urban 
development. We value their insight and 
commitment to create awareness that 
Western Australia’s prosperity depends 
on building and rebuilding cities and 
communities for future generations.

Property Council of Australia (PCA)
Our support of the PCA provides an 
opportunity to initiate positive change 
in the WA property industry. A leading 
advocate for Australia’s property industry, 
the PCA has a strong member base.

Master Builders Association (MBA)
MBA represents and promotes the 
views and interests of the building and 
construction industry. An important 
member-based industry association, our 
support assists MBA in providing a broad 
range of services to the industry.

It is important to understand the building 
industry’s objectives and current issues 
and consider this in our business. By 
supporting the MBA, LandCorp can 
further understand the issues facing 
the building industry and in turn this 
industry has a better understanding of 
LandCorp’s objectives.

Housing Industry Association (HIA)
The HIA is the voice of Australia’s home 
building industry. By supporting the HIA 
we will have a better understanding of the 
issues facing the industry and be able to 
positively respond to them. 

Some of our community 
partnerships	include:

HALO
HALO is a non-profit incorporated career 
and personal leadership development 
agency that advances the Hopes, Aspirations 
and Leadership Opportunities for young 
Aboriginal people and their families.

Clontarf
The Clontarf Foundation improves the 
education, discipline, life skills, self-esteem 
and employment prospects of young 
Aboriginal men. The Foundation uses the 
passion that Aboriginal boys have for 
football to attract them into school and 
keep them there.

Partnerships

Co-operative Research Centre 
(CRC)
LandCorp is a contributing partner in the 
CRC for Water Sensitive Cities consortium 
which is 9 year national research program 
into how to make Australian Cities more 
water sensitive, resilient and healthy.

Government Land 
Organisations Networks (GLO)
LandCorp participates in the GLO 
Sustainability Officers Network who aim 
to meet face to face or by teleconference 
several times a year to discuss issues 
of common interest such as sustainable 
housing, PrecinX and Green Star 
Communities. 

Memorandum of Understanding
Department of Housing
The Memorandum of Understanding is 
part of a joint objective between the 
Department of Housing and LandCorp 
to provide key worker, affordable and 
social housing in Western Australia. 

Bassendean
Bassendean Activity Centre is a 
strategically located District Centre 
with access to the CBD, key arterials/
linkages that is entering a significant 
phase of regeneration. The proposed 
redevelopment of this district 

activity centre is currently being 
investigated through a Memorandum 
of Understanding that includes key 
stakeholders, LandCorp, Town of 
Bassendean, Swan Districts Football 
Club, Western Australian Football 
Commission and the Department of 
Sport and Recreation in conjunction 
with the planning of the Bassendean 
Town Centre in an effort to revitalise 
the inner ring suburb of Bassendean.

Australian Sustainable Built 
Environment Council (ASBEC)
ASBEC is the peak body of key 
organisations committed to a sustainable 
built environment in Australia. ASBEC’s 
membership consists of 36 industry and 
professional associations, non-government 
organisations and government observers 
who are involved in the planning, design, 
delivery and operation of our built 
environment, and are concerned with 
the social and environmental impacts of 
this sector.

Habitat for Humanity
Habitat for Humanity Western Australia is a 
not-for-profit organisation providing home 
ownership opportunities to low income 
families. They partner with organisations to 
provide materials and labour to construct 
homes for people in need. LandCorp has 
provided a discounted site for a ‘Habitat 
for Humanity’ house at Seville Grove to 
assist with home ownership.

Business and Community Partnerships
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Activity to Support 
Reconciliation 

Some key highlights achieved 
through our Reconciliation 
Action Plan in 2012/13 include:

•	 More	than	50	Aboriginal	people	
received training and were placed 
into employment through our joint 
initiative with the Civil Contractors 
Federation, Civil Start. The training 
included work readiness training 
and training in core units of their 
Certificate III in Civil Construction

•	 Celebrating	Reconciliation	Week	at	
a staff morning tea with Uncle Ben 
Taylor providing a warm Welcome to 
Country and the vibrant sounds of the 
Drum Beat Boys from Clontarf Gilmore 
Academy

•	 87%	of	staff	received	general	
Cultural Awareness Training through 
Kooya Consulting

•	 Implementing	a	formal	policy	on	
responding to Welcome to Country.

•	 Celebrated	NAIDOC	week	with	Jim	
Morrison providing an informative talk 
on the Stolen Generation

•	 Through	the	Civil	Contractors	
Federation, we resurveyed 80 Western 
Australian civil contractors on their 
Aboriginal employment practices. 
The survey revealed some exciting 
improvements including:

 –  A shift in Aboriginal employment 
from 3.8% in 2011 to 4.8% in 2012 

 –  An increase in companies with an 
Indigenous employment strategy 
from 26% in 2011 to 43% in 2012

 –  An increase in companies with an 
Indigenous supplier policy from 17% 
in 2011 to 35% in 2012

•	 Sponsorships,	including:

 –  Clontarf academies at Kalgoorlie-
Boulder, Broome, Derby, Kununurra, 
Halls Creek, Roebourne, Karratha, 
Albany and Katanning

 –  HALO Leadership Development 
Agency. Halo is based in Cockburn 
and is a career and personal 
leadership development agency 
meeting the needs of Aboriginal 
youth and their families. Sponsorship 
funds were used to assist with their 
uniforms

 –  Silver sponsorship of the 
Shire of Roebourne’s NAIDOC 
Week celebrations

 –  Bunbury NAIDOC Week celebrations

 –  Sponsorship of the Aboriginal 
Business Directory allows us to 
support Aboriginal businesses by 
helping them to develop and grow. 
Tools, such as this directory, increase 
the profile of the Aboriginal business 
sector and assists in creating 
more Aboriginal employment 
opportunities. 

    This partnership provides a positive 
impact on our business relationships 
between Aboriginal businesses and 
reinforces LandCorp’s commitment to 
our RAP.

Industry Recognition

Awards
The following projects were recognised 
as finalists in industry awards this 
year; Property Council Awards for 
Best Workplace Project (Office 
Refurbishment), IPAA Achievement 
Awards	Leader	of	the	Year	(Ross	Holt)	
and Premiers’ Awards, Revitalising 
the Regions category (Pilbara Cities). 
The results are still pending for the 
Premier’s Awards and will be announced 
in November 2013. 

Two Commendations were received in 
the Planning Institute Awards; for Best 
Planning Ideas (Big Ideas) for Morawa 
SuperTown and Best Planning Ideas 
(Small Ideas) for Carine Vision.

LandCorp have been successful in two 
awards this year; winning the 2013 IPAA 
Achievement Awards for Best Practice 
in Collaboration between Government 
and Non Government Organisations 
for the Guidelines for Aboriginal 
Participation in WA Civil Construction 
and Landscaping Industries (this was a 
joint submission with Civil Contractors 
Federation of WA) and was also 
successful in the Australian Business 
Awards in the Community Contribution 
category for South Hedland 
Town Centre.
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Occupational Health and 
Safety Achievements 
2012/2013
•	 A	new	OHS	Policy	

•	 Safety	notice	boards	on	all	floors	

•	 Establishing	a	Safety	Committee	with	
quarterly meetings

•	 Online	OHS	training/induction	
package 

•	 Computerised	visitor	tracking	system

•	 Updated	remote	driving	policy	

•	 Updated	remote	driving	plan	template

•	 Employee	safety	in	the	event	of	
cyclone policy 

•	 OHS	component	in	new	starter’s	
induction process 

•	 Defibrillators	&	oxygen	therapy	on	
floors three and five

•	 Quarterly	office	inspections	

•	 Safety	Bulletin/Safety	Alert	
notification system

Recognise and Manage Risk 
Our risk management framework and 
corporate risk register informs the 
internal audit process and ensures 
that risks are identified, categorised 
and treated in accordance with 
their likelihood and the severity of 
potential consequences. 

With the introduction of the Clarity 
project portfolio management system, 
project risks are escalated to the 
corporate risk register where necessary, 
to bring them to the attention of 
the Executive and Board. The risk 
management framework is reviewed 
twice a year, to coincide with strategic 
risk assessments performed by the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee 
and the Board.

Information Technology 
We are currently undergoing an upgrade 
of our technology platform to improve the 
security of our network and information 
assets, and to ensure compliance with the 
Privacy Act 1988 (Commonwealth) and the 
State Records Act 2000.

POWERING OUR PROJECT PORTFOLIO

The replacement of our custom-built 
project management application with 
Clarity, an off-the-shelf portfolio project 
management application, moved into a 
staged implementation phase with the 
first stage due for completion in 
August 2013.

While we are working towards being able 
to utilise all of the features Clarity offers 
we are already able to use Clarity to 
manage our projects at an operational 
level. The additional value will come from 
achieving visibility of information at a 
portfolio level with the use of interactive 
graphical dashboards.

This project has enabled us to meet the 
important strategic objective of investing 
in our people to develop internal skills 
and knowledge which would otherwise 
be outsourced.

In Pursuit of Best Business Practice
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Business performance

LandCorp contributes to the 
State Government finances while 
delivering positive community 
outcomes through project 
delivery. We return significant 
funds to the taxpayers of WA. 
These contribute to other areas of 
key Government expenditure.

We measure our performance against 
the achievement of outcomes in our 
Statement of Corporate Intent. In 
2012/13, we set targets and measured our 
performance across a range of strategic 
focus areas. A number of the targets and 
results are highlighted in the table below.

During 2012/13, LandCorp delivered on 
targeted Government Priority project 
milestones, as well as met most of the 
key performance indicator targets. We 
achieved $334 million in sales, while 
all other financial indicators met their 
targets. Sales revenue was below target 
due to LandCorp’s diverse portfolio of 
projects being impacted by fluctuating 
economic conditions during 2012/13. 
Metropolitan residential projects catering 

for the first home buyer segment were 
able to respond to demand well, however 
sales in both the Regional Program and 
the Economic and Employment Land 
Program suffered from a slowdown in 
the resources sector. The Pilbara market 
for residential, tourism and employment 
land showed signs of saturation with a 
key positive being supply approaching 
normal conditions.

During 2012/13, LandCorp achieved 
significant progress on several projects 
under the Government’s Pilbara Cities 
initiative, with Karratha Town Centre 
and South Hedland Town Centre 
redevelopments well under way and 
planning for Port Hedland Waterfront 
progressing, while the development of 
Bunbury Waterfront started in 2012/13. 
In the Perth metropolitan area, work on 
several Activity Centres has continued, 
with Claremont North East Precinct 
forward works reaching practical 
completion and the developer for the 
first residential apartment site selected. 
At Cockburn Coast, local structure plans 
for Robbs Jetty and Hilltop Precinct have 

been approved. Work has also progressed 
on several Strategic Industrial Areas 
across the state, including Collie Shotts, 
Ashburton North and Anketell. 

We delivered land for 600 dwelling unit 
equivalents in regional WA, including 
137 lots as part of the Local Regional 
Development Assistance Program. 
In Perth, land for 1,900 dwelling unit 
equivalents was released, while the 
Economic and Employment Land Program 
released 59 general industrial lots. In 
2012/13 significant progress was made 
in building relationships and working 
with other parts of Government and 
the private sector, while delivering on 
Government Priorities, meeting our 
targets and continuing to respond to new 
challenges set by the Minister. 

Landcorp Strategy Landcorp Key Performance 
Indicators - Targets And Measures 

2012/13 
Target 

Mid-Year 
Review 

Results As At 
30 June 2013 

GOVERNMENT 

PRIORITIES	COMMUNITY	

DEVELOPMENT	

Number of priority projects where milestone 
targets were achieved 

16 16 16 

STRATEGIC	LAND	DELIVERY	

PARTNERSHIPS	and	

RELATIONSHIPS	

Metropolitan: Total dwelling unit equivalents 
created (based on land released) 

1,750 1,500 1,900

Regional: Total dwelling unit equivalents created 
(based on land released) 

600 480 610

Regional: Total Regional Development Assistance 
Program dwelling unit equivalents created / Local 
Regional Development Assistance Program lots 
created 

330/150 350/134 445/137

Economic and Employment Land: Number of 
general industrial lots released 

65 65 59 

BUSINESS	PERFORMANCE	

CUSTOMERS	AND	

MARKETING 

Net debt ($M) $105m $186m $188m

Profit ($M) $45m $47m $48m

Staff retention (%) >80% n/a 91%

Sales achieved: (lots settled sales value $M) $429m $366m $334m 

*Preliminary results, subject to a number of year end and tax effect adjustments and final audit.
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Directors’ Report

The Board of Directors of LandCorp 
presents its report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2013.

Directors
The Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992 (the Act) prescribes that the 
Board is to comprise between five and 
seven Directors at any one time, with the 
Minister for Lands being responsible for 
Board appointments.

Persons who held the office of Director 
during the course of the year were as 
follows:

The qualifications, experience and particular responsibilities 
of each Director are set out below.

Director Date	First	Appointed Resigned / Term Expiry

Monty House (Chairperson) 6 April 2009 30 June 2015

David Rowe  
(Deputy Chairperson)

6 April 2009 19 September 2012

Caroline de Mori  
(Deputy Chairperson)

6 April 2009 30 June 2014

Simon Read 27 April 2010 30 June 2015

George McCullagh 28 September 2010 30 June 2015

Peter Cooke 14 February 2011 30 June 2014

Jenny Smithson 1 July 2011 30 June 2015

Peter Gibbons 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

Current Directors:

Monty House was initially appointed 
Chairperson on 6 April 2009 for a term 
ending 30 June 2012 and reappointed 
during the period for a three year 
term expiring 30 June 2015. Monty has 
enjoyed a distinguished 37 year public 
career commencing as a Shire Councillor 
and Shire President at Gnowangerup. 
As a former Member of Parliament 
representing the Stirling electorate, 
Monty also served as Minister for Primary 
Industry and Fisheries as well as Deputy 
Leader of the National Party. Monty is 
the owner/manager of an extensive grain 
and sheep farming business in Western 
Australia. He is currently the External 
Affairs Director of Latent Petroleum, 
immediate past Chair of Landgate, a 
Member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and a serving Justice 
of the Peace. 

Caroline de Mori was initially appointed 
as a Director on 6 April 2009 and re-
appointed for a three year term expiring 
30 June 2014. Caroline was appointed 
Deputy Chairperson on 29 October 
2012. Caroline is the Chairperson of the 
Planning and Development Committee 
and a member of the Governance and 
Remuneration Committee. She has 
experience in corporate communications 
involving large and complex land, mining 
and resources development throughout 
Western Australia. Caroline also has 
experience in regional issues, including 
those facing Indigenous communities 
and was a founder and Director of two 
communications consultancies and 
a member of a Federal Government 
consumer advisory committee. She 
is currently Executive Chair of EON 
Foundation Inc. and Non-Executive 
Director of IndiEnergy Ltd. Caroline is a 
Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.
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Simon Read was initially appointed 
on 27 April 2010 and re-appointed 
during the period for a further two 
year term expiring 30 June 2015. Simon 
is Chairperson of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and has honed 
a hands-on skill set over 25 years of 
working with Australia’s leading corporate 
recovery specialists. He has specialised 
in corporate reconstruction, turnaround 
and business improvement. Simon also 
currently consults to business owners, 
boards and financiers. Simon has 
worked across many industries with 
significant experience in forestry, mining, 
engineering, finance and property. Simon 
is a Graduate of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors and a Chartered 
Accountant.

George McCullagh was initially appointed 
on 28 September 2010 and re-appointed 
for a three year term ending 30 
June 2015. George is Chairperson of 
the Governance and Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Audit 
and Risk Management Committee. 
He was previously a Partner with an 
international consulting firm. Across 
the past decade, George has worked as 
a consultant in independent practice, 
providing commercial and advisory 
services to a range of planning, resources, 
infrastructure and redevelopment 
agencies in Western Australia. He 
currently serves as an independent 
member of the Audit Committee for the 
Department of Mines and Petroleum. 
George is a Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Peter	Cooke	was initially appointed on  
14 February 2011 and re-appointed for a two 
year term expiring 30 June 2014. Peter is a 
member of the Planning and Development 
Committee and Governance and 
Remuneration Committee. He has a varied 
and extensive background in agribusiness, 
marketing, strategic planning and 
communications. For the past 15 years he has 
been the Principal of Agknowledge, a small 
agribusiness firm specialising in providing 
strategic business development to a range 
of companies, government departments and 
enterprises across Australia. In 2012, Peter 
was appointed a member of the Advisory 
Board of Curtin University’s International 
Institute of Agri-food Security and is a Fellow 
of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. Peter also chaired the National 
Selection Panel for Australia’s Equestrian 
Olympic team in London.

Jenny Smithson was initially appointed on 
1 July 2011 and re-appointed for a three 
year term expiring 30 June 2015. Jenny is a 
member of the Planning and Development 
Committee. She is a qualified Town Planner 
and is a Senior Principal of Cardno, an 
international engineering based consulting 
firm. Jenny is a former Director of Cardno 
(WA) and BSD Consultants Pty Ltd. Jenny 
has expertise in project managing major 
multi disciplinary projects on behalf of 
public and private sector clients with 
specific expertise in land development 
and approvals negotiation. Jenny is a part 
time Commissioner of the NSW Land 
and Environment Court and has held 
former positions as a Sessional Member 
of the State Administrative Tribunal, 
Commissioner for the City of Cockburn 
and Shire of Albany, WA President of the 
Planning Institute of Australia and Urban 
Development Institute of Australia (WA) 
Councillor. Jenny is a Graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Peter	Gibbons was initially appointed 
on 1 January 2013 for a term expiring on 
30 June 2014. Peter is a member of the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
Peter has extensive experience in 
property investment banking, property 
development and property financing and 
funds management. Peter is Managing 
Director of North West Property 
Consultants and has strong knowledge 
and understanding of the issues and 
challenges of regional development. 
Peter has held a number of senior board 
positions including the Silver Chain Group 
and being a Commissioner of the West 
Australian Football Commission.

Directors who retired /  
resigned during the period
David	Rowe was initially appointed as 
a Director on 6 April 2009 and re-
appointed for a three year term expiring 
30 June 2013. David was appointed as 
Deputy Chairperson on 1 July 2011. David 
was Chairperson of the Planning and 
Development Committee and member 
of the Governance and Remuneration 
Committee. David Rowe resigned from the 
Board effective 19 September 2012. 
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Directors’	Meetings
Details of attendance by Directors at 
Board meetings and Board Committee 
meetings is set out below:

Director Board 
Audit and Risk 
Management 
Committee c

Governance and 
Remuneration 
Committee c

Planning and 
Development 
Committee

Major Transactions 
Committee d

 Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend

Meetings 
Attended

Eligible to 
Attend

Monty House 13 14 3 e -  3 e -  5 e -   1 e -

David Rowe a 2 3   1 e - 1 1 2 2 - -

Peter Cooke 12 14 2 2 - - 5 6 - -

Caroline de Mori 13 14   1 e - 3 3 6 6 - -

Peter Gibbons b 6 6 2 2 - - - - - -

George McCullagh 13 14 3 4 3 3 - - 5 5

Simon Read 13 14 4 4 - - - - 5 5

Jenny Smithson 14 14   1 e -  - - 6 6 5 5

‘Eligible to Attend’ indicates the number of meetings held during the 
period of each director’s tenure
a D Rowe resigned effective 19 September 2012
b P Gibbons appointed effective 1 January 2013
c Committee membership changed from March 2013
d Major Transactions Committee ceased April 2013.
e Directors may attend Committee meetings as an observer
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Principal	Activities

The Western Australian Land 
Authority, trading as LandCorp, 
is a Government trading entity 
established under the provisions 
of the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992 (WALA). 

The Act sets out a clear role for LandCorp 
to ensure the State’s future land needs 
are met in a commercially responsible 
manner and establishes lines of 
accountability with the State Government.

The functions of LandCorp are:

(a) to be an agency which provides, or 
promotes, the provision of land for 
the social and economic needs of the 
State;

(b) to be an agency through which the 
Crown and public authorities may 
dispose of land;

(c) to be an agency through which local 
governments and regional local 
governments may dispose of land in 
accordance with the Local Government 
Act 1995;

(d) to complete the development of the 
Joondalup Centre, in accordance with 
the plan referred to in section 18 on 
the land described in Schedule 2; and

(e) to identify other potential centres of 
population, including those in need 
of urban renewal, and use its powers 
to bring about the provision or 
improvement of land, infrastructure, 
facilities or services for the same.

There have been no significant changes 
in the nature of the principal activities of 
LandCorp during the financial year.

Operations 
LandCorp continued to conduct its 
operations in accordance with commercial 
principles, specified in Section 19 of the 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 
1992, by:

•	 performing	functions	in	a	cost-efficient	
manner;

•	 endeavouring	to	surpass	long-term	
financial targets specified in its 
Strategic Development Plan; and

•	 ensuring	no	new	project	had	an	
expected rate of return below a 
minimum hurdle rate specified in its 
Strategic Development Plan.  LandCorp 
and Government have agreed to set 
the hurdle rate of return as LandCorp’s 
Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
(WACC).

Projects that make up the Regional 
Development Assistance Program are 
treated as one project for governance 
purposes.

Operating 
Results

2012/13 
($M)

2011/12 
($M)

2010/11 
($M)

2009/10 
($M)

2008/09 
($M)

Profit 
Before 
Income Tax 
Equivalents

69.014 134.544 149.779 95.578 43.434

Income Tax 
Equivalents 
Expense

20.707 40.369 44.726 27.412 12.987

Net Profit 48.307 94.175 105.053 68.166 30.447
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Dividends	Paid	or	
Recommended
The Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992 specifies how the dividend is to 
be determined by the Board and Minister.

The Board of Directors is required to 
make a dividend recommendation to 
the responsible Minister as soon as 
practicable after the end of each financial 
year. The Minister is required to consult 
with the Treasurer and either accept the 
recommendation or otherwise determine 
the dividend payable by LandCorp.

The Treasurer determines the date the 
dividend is to be paid by LandCorp. The 
dividend payments for the last five (5) 
years are summarised below:

Events subsequent to 
Balance	Date
In the interval between the end of the 
financial year and the date of this report, 
there has not arisen any item, transaction 
or event of a material or unusual nature 
likely, in the opinion of the Directors 
of LandCorp, to significantly affect the 
operations of LandCorp, the result of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of 
LandCorp in future financial years. 

Likely developments and 
future results
LandCorp will continue to work with 
Government, its stakeholders and 
customers to deliver the functions set out 
in the Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992.

LandCorp’s expected future trading 
results, as set out in its 2013/14 Statement 
of Corporate Intent is outlined in the 
following table:

Payments to Government (through the 
Consolidated Fund) are expected to 
total around $100million from 2013/14 
operations. This includes tax equivalents, 
stamp duty on land acquisitions and 
expected dividends.

Remuneration report
Remuneration arrangements for key 
personnel refers to non-executive 
Directors of the Board and Executives 
who are responsible for planning, directing 
and controlling LandCorp’s operations.

LandCorp’s policy for determining the 
nature and amount of emoluments for key 
personnel is designed to attract, retain 
and engage appropriately qualified and 
experienced Directors and Executives. A 
Board sub-Committee, the Governance 
and Remuneration Committee, assists 
the Board by ensuring that appropriate 
and effective policies, plans and practices 
are in place in relation to remuneration 
arrangements and meets regularly to 
consider relevant matters.

Dividends 
Paid

2012/13 
($M)

2011/12 
($M)

2010/11 
($M)

2009/10 
($M)

2008/09 
($M)

94.070 31.096 31.096 28.846 17.751

($M)

Sales Revenue (excl. GST) 506

Sundry Revenue 42

Cost of Land Sold (428)

Operating Costs (49)

Profit before Interest and CSO 71

CSO Revenue (Net) 45

Net Interest Expense (8)

Income Tax Expense (32)

Profit after Income Tax 76
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Emoluments

Directors’ Emoluments

The remuneration of Directors is 
determined following independent advice 
from remuneration consultants and the 
Public Sector Commission and is approved 
by the Minister.

Remuneration is in the form of salary and 
superannuation contributions. Other than 
these, LandCorp does not pay any other 
post-employment benefits to Directors.

In accordance with Section 13(c) of 
Schedule 3A of the Western Australian 
Land Authority Act 1992, the following 
table shows the nature and amount of 
each element for each Director.

Director Fees 
$

Superannuation 
$

Other 
Benefits

Total 
$

Monty House * 81,588 7,342 0 88,930

Caroline de Mori 54,051 4,865 0 58,916

Simon Read 40,794 3,671 0 44,465

George McCullagh 40,794 3,671 0 44,465

Peter Cooke 40,794 3,671 0 44,465

Jenny Smithson 40,794 3,671 0 44,465

Peter Gibbons 19,298 1,736 0 21,034

David Rowe ** 15,062 1,355 0 16,417

Total 333,175 29,982 0 363,157

*One Director of LandCorp received benefits (other than a benefit included in the total amount 
of emoluments received or due and receivable by Directors) by reason of a contract made by 
LandCorp. Monty House was engaged during the period, separate to his role as Chairperson of 
LandCorp, as the Goomig and Knox Negotiation Team Chair for the Ord-East Kimberley Expansion 
Project and received a consultancy fee of $52,350, funded by Royalties for Regions via the 
Department of State Development.

** Resigned effective 19 September 2012.

* Note: includes final payment associated with LandCorp’s previous Performance Linked Reward 
which was discontinued in 2012/13. For 2013/14 onwards, costs associated with Other Benefits will 
materially reduce.

** Employment commenced on 20 August 2012.

Executive Emoluments
The remuneration package for the 
Chief Executive Officer and Executives 
consists of a combination of salary, non-
monetary benefits and superannuation 
contributions. Non-monetary benefits 
may include a vehicle and fringe benefits 
tax. Decisions are made within the 
context of organisational and individual 
performance as well as what is consistent 
with equivalent bodies, industry 
benchmarks, existing government policy 
and the industrial relations system. 

A total fixed remuneration (TFR) approach 
is applied with flexible remuneration 
packaging arrangements, in line with 
industry best practice. This means that, 
although the components of the TFR or 
package may vary between remuneration 
reviews, the total amount remains 
constant. 

Superannuation paid is according to 
legislation and availability of other 
benefits (eg vehicles) is subject to 
organisational policy and eligibility 
requirements.

The remuneration of all staff is reviewed 
annually. The Board, with the agreement 
of the Minister, is responsible for the 
remuneration of the Chief Executive 

Officer which is also reviewed annually. 
The Chief Executive Officer, in line with 
the policy set by the Governance and 
Remuneration Committee and the Board, 
sets Executive remuneration based on 
annual salary survey data and advice from 
independent remuneration consultants. 
Specifically, fixed remuneration is 
benchmarked against comparative 
industry groups in order to remain 
competitive in the labour market.

Employees in management roles in 
LandCorp, including Executives, are 
employed on individual, market-based 
contracts.

LandCorp does not provide any short or 
long term incentives, loans, grant options, 
rights or shares to key management 
personnel. No termination benefits were 
paid to key management personnel during 
the year.

The performance of the Chief Executive 
Officer and Executives is monitored 
against agreed criteria.  

In accordance with Section 13(c) of 
Schedule 3A of the Western Australian 
Land Authority Act 1992, below are details 
of emoluments provided to the five 
named officers of LandCorp receiving the 
highest emoluments:

Executives Base Salary 
$

Superannuation 
$

Other * 
Benefits

Total 
$

Ross Holt 510,186 61,222 52,519 623,927

Mike Moloney 344,045 30,964 36,791 411,800

Frank Marra 323,502 38,820 41,237 403,559

Kerry Fijac 285,070 34,208 34,874 354,152

Nicholas Wolff ** 318,232 21,243 0 339,475

Total 1,781,035 186,457 165,421 2,132,913
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Indemnification and 
Insurance	of	Directors	and	
Officers
During the reporting period, Directors’ and 
Officers’ Liability Insurance was maintained 
to ensure Directors and Officers are 
adequately covered. The policy indemnifies 
Directors and Officers from loss which he/
she becomes legally obligated to pay on 
account of any claim first made against 
him/her during the policy period for an 
insured act committed before or during the 
policy period.

The Authority has entered into Deeds of 
Indemnity with each Director to indemnify 
the Director in relation to certain liabilities 
incurred whilst a Director of the Authority.

At the date of this report no claims have 
been made against the Directors’ and 
Officers’ insurance policy.

Rounding of amounts
Amounts have been rounded off to the 
nearest thousand dollars in the Directors’ 
Report and financial statements unless 
otherwise shown or indicated. 

This Report is made in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board.

 

26 August 2013

Simon Read
Director

Caroline de Mori 
Deputy	Chairperson
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Corporate Governance Report

1. Corporate Governance Report
Corporate governance has been at the 
very core of the LandCorp Board since 
the establishment of the organisation in 
1992. 

The current Board of Directors is 
committed to the highest standards of 
corporate governance and uses a range of 
benchmarks to guide its practices, ranging 
from the Public	Sector	Management	
Act 1994 to the Principles of Good 
Corporate Governance as determined 
by the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) 
(to the extent they can be applied to the 
organisation).

Corporate governance is the system and 
processes adopted to direct and manage 
the business and affairs of LandCorp.

LandCorp has a comprehensive system 
of governance practices, developed over 
many years, which ensures, at a minimum, 
it achieves the standards set out in the 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 
1992 and the Statutory Corporations 
(Liability	of	Directors)	Act	1996.

The LandCorp Board of Directors and 
the staff of LandCorp are focussed 
on, and committed to, good corporate 
governance.

The Minister for Regional Development; 
Lands has portfolio responsibility for 
LandCorp. 

The legislation sets the foundation for 
the corporate governance framework 
and structure to be given effect by the 
Board of Directors and defines reporting 
requirements.

The Western Australian Auditor General 
conducts annual audits of LandCorp.

2. Board of Directors

2.1 Board role and responsibilities 

LandCorp’s Board of Directors recognises 
its accountability to the Government and 
Minister for Regional Development; Lands. 
This requires the Board to deliver the 
objectives and functions set out in the 
Western Australian Land Authority Act 
1992.

The Board is accountable to the 
Government for LandCorp’s performance 
and the Board’s responsibilities cover:

•	 Setting	out	corporate	directions	and	
annually submitting to the Minister 
LandCorp’s one year Statement 
of Corporate Intent and five year 
Strategic Development Plan including 
financial targets;

•	 Providing	strategic	direction	and	
approving significant strategic 
corporate objectives;

•	 Maintaining	communication	with	the	
Minister and Government; 

•	 Maintaining	working	relationships	with	
Management.

•	 Evaluating	Board	performance;

•	 Evaluating	performance	of	the	Chief	
Executive Officer;

•	 Planning	for	Board	and	Management	
Succession; 

•	 Recommending	Director	remuneration	
to the Minister;

•	 Monitoring	financial	and	corporate	
performance;

•	 Considering	and	approving	half-yearly	
and annual reports;

•	 Assessing	LandCorp’s	social,	economic	
and environmental performance;

•	 Reviewing,	ratifying	and	monitoring	
appropriate systems of risk 
management and legal compliance; 

•	 Satisfying	itself	that	appropriate	
internal control mechanisms are in 
place and are being implemented;

•	 Determining	the	scope	of	authority	
(and any limits on authority) which 
is delegated to the Chief Executive 
Officer or any other officer;

•	 Monitoring	appropriate	resources	are	
available to senior management; and

•	 Maintaining	an	emphasis	on	audit	
activities.

The Board has worked throughout the 
year to ensure the organisation’s vision, 
future directions and strategies are well 
understood and achieved.

2.2 Board composition

The Board comprises independent 
Directors appointed by the Minister in 
accordance with relevant provisions of 
the Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992. 

At least four of the Directors on the 
Board need to have relevant experience 
in housing, industry, commerce, finance, 
land development, town planning and 
engineering, which provide a set of 
relevant experiences and knowledge. The 
skills and experiences of Directors who 
were on the Board during the reporting 
period are set out in the Directors’ 
Report. 

The Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson 
are appointed by the Minister for 
Regional Development; Lands.

In accordance with Schedule 1A, Clause 1 
of the Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992, Directors may be appointed for 
a term of up to three years. There are 
also provisions in the Act which enable 
the Minister to reappoint Directors for 
a further term on the Board. The Chief 
Executive Officer is not permitted to be 
appointed as a Director. 

The Board does not believe any Director 
has served on the Board for a period 
which could materially interfere, or 
reasonably be perceived to interfere, with 
the Director’s ability to act in the best 
interests of LandCorp.
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In addition, it is considered each Director 
is independent of management and 
any business or other relationship 
that could materially interfere with the 
exercise of objective, unfettered or 
independent judgement by the Director 
of the Director’s ability to act in the best 
interests of LandCorp.

2.3 The Board and the CEO

The Board is responsible for the 
appointment and employment contract 
of the CEO subject to obtaining the 
Minister’s approval.

Day to day oversight and management of 
operations are the responsibility of the 
Chief Executive Officer who reports to the 
Board on issues including:

•	 corporate	strategies;

•	 human	resources;

•	 annual	budgeting;

•	 managing	day	to	day	operations;

•	 risk	management;

•	 operations	and	major	project	
challenges and milestones; and

•	 strategic	marketing	and	
communications.

3. Board Committees

The Board has three committees to focus 
on specific areas. The committees are:

•	 Audit	and	Risk	Management	
Committee;

•	 Governance	and	Remuneration	
Committee; and

•	 Planning,	Development	and	
Communications Committee.

The Board reviews and ratifies the terms 
of reference of all of these committees 
and their membership annually. Minutes 
of all committee meetings are provided to 
the next Board meeting. A director may 
attend committee meetings even if he or 
she is not a member of the committee.

3.1 Audit and Risk Management 
Committee

This Committee provides advice to 
the Board, which assist the Board to 
fulfil its responsibilities relating to risk 
management and compliance with internal 
systems and control mechanisms. 

The Committee has direct access to 
external auditors, internal auditors and 
senior management. The Committee 
meets regularly, meeting external auditors 
at least twice a year and internal auditors 
more frequently. External auditors are 
appointed in accordance with Schedule 3A 
Clause 14 of the Act.

The Committee has a charter setting 
out its responsibilities and key activities 
covering:

Financial Reporting
•	 Oversee	LandCorp’s	financial	

reporting process on behalf of the 
Board and report the results of its 
activities to the Board.

•	 Assist	the	Board	in	ensuring	that	the	
accounting policies and principles 
used by LandCorp are appropriate 
and that the financial reports are 
properly prepared.

•	 Review	significant	accounting,	taxation	
and reporting issues, including 
recent professional and regulatory 
pronouncements, and understand 
their impact on the financial 
statements.

Internal Audit
•	 Make	recommendations	to	the	Board	

regarding the appointment of internal 
auditors.

•	 Approve	the	charter	for	the	internal	
audit function.

•	 Approve	both	short	term	and	long-
term internal audit plans.

•	 Review	the	activities	of	the	internal	
audit function and ensure no 
unjustified restrictions or limitations 
are made.

•	 Review	the	effectiveness	of	the	
internal audit function.

•	 Review	the	performance	of	the	
internal auditors.

•	 Ensure	that	significant	findings	and	
recommendations made by the 
internal auditors are received by 
the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and discussed on a timely 
basis.

•	 Ensure	that	management	responds	
to recommendations made by the 
internal auditors and agreed action 
items are addressed promptly.

External Audit
•	 Consider	the	external	auditors’	

proposed audit scope and approach 
and ensure no unjustified restrictions 
or limitations have been placed on the 
scope.

•	 Ensure	that	significant	findings	and	
recommendations made by the 
external auditors are received and 
discussed on a timely basis.

•	 Ensure	that	management	responds	
to recommendations by the external 
auditors and agreed action items are 
addressed promptly.

Risk Management (including Internal 
Controls)
•	 Discuss	with	management,	the	internal	

auditor and the external auditor, 
the adequacy and effectiveness of 
LandCorp’s:

•	 internal	control	systems;

•	 policies	and	procedures	to	assess,	
monitor, and manage business 
risk; and

•	 legal	and	ethical	compliance	
programs.

•	 Assess	the	internal	processes	for	
determining and managing key risk 
areas, particularly: 

•	 compliance	with	laws,	regulations,	
standards and best practice 
guidelines, 
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•	 important	judgements	and	
accounting estimates; 

•	 fraud	and	theft;	and	

•	 relevant	business	risks	other	than	
those that are dealt with by other 
specific Board Committees.

•	 Make	recommendations	to	the	Board	
for improvements (if any) in relation 
to the internal financial management 
and the financial controls of 
LandCorp.

•	 Review	management	policies	and	
reports for the oversight and 
management of material business 
risks.

•	 Address	the	effectiveness	of	the	
internal control, risk management and 
performance management systems 
with management and the external 
audit providers.

•	 Evaluate	the	process	LandCorp	has	in	
place for assessing and continuously 
improving internal controls, 
particularly those related to areas of 
significant risk.

3.2 Governance and Remuneration 
Committee

The Board has established this Committee 
which has a charter to:

•	 develop	and	review	LandCorp’s	
corporate governance principles and 
framework;

•	 develop	and	review	the	policy	relating	
to remuneration to the Board, Chief 
Executive Officer, management and 
other Authority staff;

•	 provide	quality	assurance	on	the	
integrity and probity of remuneration 
policies and practices;

•	 ensure	appropriate	succession	
planning is undertaken for the Board 
and Executive;

•	 assist	with	the	nomination	of	Directors	
and with induction programs for new 
Directors;

•	 assist	with	the	review	of	the	
performance of the Board, the 
Committees and the Chief Executive 
Officer; and

•	 ensure	policies	are	developed	
to assist LandCorp to achieve its 
business direction outcomes.

In accordance with the Western Australian 
Land Authority Act 1992, disclosures 
relating to Director, Chief Executive 
Officer and Executive remuneration are 
included in the Directors’ Report.

3.3 Planning, Development and 
Communications Committee

The Board has established this Committee 
which has a charter to:

•	 provide	advice	to	the	Board	
with regard to land use planning 
responsibilities in relation to future 
land use development in areas that 
LandCorp has specific planning 
powers and/or planning control;

•	 initiate	and	identify	opportunities	to	
provide and promote the provision 
and development of Crown land 
through LandCorp developing the 
land and/or the sale of land for 
development and/or leasing to third 
parties for development; 

•	 provide	advice	in	relation	to	Local	
Regional Development Assistance 
Program (RDAP) project attraction, 
assessment and monitoring; and

•	 review	and	update	LandCorp’s	
communication policies and 
underlying strategic processes to 
make certain effective communication 
with all stakeholders, including the 
taxpayers of Western Australia, is 
established and maintained and the 
Minister’s and Board’s policies are 
communicated and delivered.

4. Board Meetings

Board meetings are held at such times 
and places as the Board determines.

The Chairperson sets the agenda for 
each meeting in consultation with the 
Chief Executive Officer. Any Director may 
request to have a matter added to the 
agenda. 

Directors are provided comprehensive 
papers on matters to be considered by 
the Board.

Members of the Office of the Chief 
Executive Officer and other members 
of the senior management group attend 
parts of the Board meetings by invitation.

5. Board Access to Information and 
Professional Advice

Directors have access to information via 
LandCorp’s Executive.

The Directors, the Board and the Board 
Committees may, in carrying out their 
duties, seek external legal and expert 
advice at LandCorp’s expense. This advice 
may be sought after consultation with the 
Chairperson. 

6. Performance Evaluation

The Board Chairperson is responsible for 
reviewing Board performance, monitoring 
the contribution of individual Directors 
and counselling them on any areas 
which may result in improved Board 
performance.

Each Committee reviews its performance 
annually against its chartered roles which 
is then reported to the Governance and 
Remuneration Committee.

The performance evaluation of the 
Chief Executive Officer is undertaken 
by the Board though the Chairperson. 
A performance agreement and targets 
are set and reviews are undertaken a 
minimum of twice annually.
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The performance evaluation of the 
Executive is undertaken by the Chief 
Executive Officer. A performance 
agreement and targets are set and 
reviews are undertaken a minimum of 
twice annually.

More generally for staff, LandCorp has 
a strong culture of achievement via 
performance agreements which clarify 
roles and responsibilities, goals and targets 
(aligned to the annual Business Plan) as 
well as specific development plans.

7. Conflicts of Interest

LandCorp has in place a Conflict of 
Interest Policy detailing how such matters 
are to be managed. This policy accords 
with standards set by the Western 
Australian Public Sector Standards 
Commissioner.

New Directors appointed to the Board 
are required to declare financial and 
pecuniary interests at their first meeting. 
LandCorp has a standing protocol 
whereby a Director would disclose an 
interest in any item on the Board’s 
meeting agenda. Disclosures are recorded 
in the meeting minutes, with a copy placed 
into a Conflicts of Interest Register.

Any Director who considers he or she 
has a conflict of interest is required 
to give the other Directors immediate 
notice. These interests are recorded in 
LandCorp’s Conflict of Interest Register.

Where a Director makes a declaration 
of a conflict, the Board may either allow 
the Director to partially participate in 
discussion of the agenda item; make a 
statement to the Board, prior to leaving 
the meeting room; or the Board may 
request the Director leave the meeting 
immediately.

The Conflict of Interest Policy also applies 
to LandCorp staff and contractors, who 
when conflicted, are required to make a 
formal disclosure to the Chief Executive 
Officer who in turn determines the 
management action required. 

8. Ethical Standards

The Board is required to establish 
minimum standards to apply to 
employees, management and the Board of 
Directors with regard to merit, equity and 
probity, which are reflected in a Code of 
Conduct (Code) developed in consultation 
with the Commissioner of Public Sector 
Standards.

The LandCorp Code provides guidance 
on a set of principles that reflects its 
approach to business and applies to 
anyone working for, or on behalf of, 
LandCorp including Board, Executive, staff 
and contractors. The Code is part of the 
induction process, available to staff at 
all times via the intranet and document 
management systems and supported by 
training and awareness-raising sessions. 

LandCorp maintains a series of policies 
and protocols which in total strengthen 
and affirm the organisation’s approach to 
corporate governance. These address the 
key areas of:

•	 values	and	ethics;

•	 trade	practices;

•	 procurement	and	tendering;

•	 gifts;

•	 occupational	health	and	safety;

•	 equal	employment	opportunity;

•	 continuous	disclosure	of	conflicts	of	
interest; and

•	 personal	duties	and	responsibilities.

9. Shareholder

The Minister for Regional Development; 
Lands has portfolio responsibility for 
LandCorp. 

9.1 Ministerial Reporting

LandCorp’s governing legislation sets out 
the reports which are to be provided to 
the Minister.

LandCorp’s governing legislation and 
regulations prescribes the matters to be 
addressed in its Strategic Development 
Plan and Statement of Corporate Intent. 
These documents provide the Minister 
with details on LandCorp’s activities, key 
objectives, strategies and operational 
targets. Both documents are submitted 
annually for approval by the Minister, with 
the consent of the Treasurer. LandCorp’s 
approved Statement of Corporate Intent 
is tabled in the Parliament annually 
by the Minister. LandCorp’s approved 
Statement of Corporate Intent was 
tabled in Parliament by the Minister on 
15 November 2012. All other documents 
were submitted within the timeframes 
prescribed in the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992.

Beyond the legislative requirements, 
LandCorp is committed to ensuring 
the Government is fully informed on 
significant activities and developments. 
This commitment is achieved by provision 
of information and advice to the Minister 
for Regional Development; Lands, as well 
as agencies such as the Department of 
Treasury and Department of Finance.

Information provided includes, but is 
not	limited	to,	Annual	Reports,	Half	Year	
Reports, budget submissions as well 
as responses to specific requests from 
the Parliament, Members of Parliament, 
agencies and the public.
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9.2 Ministerial Direction

The Minister may give directions in writing 
to the Board of Directors with respect 
to the performance of the functions 
prescribed under the legislation. Any 
such directions must be laid before both 
houses of Parliament within 14 days.

The Board has maintained a policy with 
respect to responding to Ministerial direction. 
This policy enables the Board to comply with 
the Western Australian Land Authority Act 
1992 and Statutory	Corporations	(Liability	
of	Directors)	Act	1996.	

No Ministerial directions were received 
by LandCorp from the Minister during the 
reporting period.

9.3 Ministerial Approvals

The Western Australian Land Authority 
Act 1992 requires LandCorp to obtain the 
Minister’s approval to transactions in which 
the consideration is equal to or exceeds 
five percent of the value of total reported 
assets of LandCorp as set out in the 
most recent Annual Report. The Minister 
approved two transactions in 2012/13.

10. Risk Management

LandCorp has a Risk Management 
Framework, which is integrated into 
various strategic processes such as 
corporate and business planning. The 
Framework and Risk Register also informs 
the internal audit process and shapes the 
annual internal audit program.

LandCorp’s Corporate Risk Register 
summarises risks confronting the 
organisation and examines probability, 
severity of consequences, controls and 
mitigation strategies. Risks are ranked in the 
register to ensure the organisation is able to 
be clear about which aspects of risk might 
require the greatest level of attention.

LandCorp’s Corporate Risk Register and 
Risk Management Framework are updated 
twice per year though the Board via the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee.

11. Corporate Compliance 
Disclosures

11.1 Freedom of Information

The provisions of the Freedom of 
Information	(FOI)	Act	1992 apply to 
LandCorp and six FOI applications were 
received in this reporting period, one 
of which was later withdrawn by the 
applicant. LandCorp works with applicants 
to facilitate full disclosure of documents 
where appropriate. LandCorp also 
received five enquiries for third party 
consultations from other government 
agencies.

An Information Statement in accordance 
with the FOI Act, giving information 
about LandCorp and how to make an 
FOI request is available at http://www.
landcorp.com.au/ 

11.2 Record Keeping Compliance

LandCorp maintains and supports quality 
record keeping practices in its day-to-
day business activities. In accordance 
with Section 19 of the State Records 
Act 2000 LandCorp has an approved 
Recordkeeping Plan. 

11.3 Public Interest Disclosure 

The Public	Interest	Disclosures	Act	2003 
facilitates the disclosure of public interest 
information and provides protection for 
those who make disclosures and those 
who are the subject of disclosures.

LandCorp has appointed a Public Interest 
Disclosure Officer and internal procedures 
have been developed that outline the 
manner in which LandCorp will comply 
with its obligations under the Act.

No disclosures were received this year.

11.4 Environmental Regulation and 
Management 

LandCorp’s operations are subject 
to significant regulation under both 
Commonwealth and State environmental 
legislation applicable to any Australian 

commercial entity. These include:

•	 Environment	Protection	and	
Biodiversity Conservation Act 
(Commonwealth)	1999;

•	 Environmental	Protection	Act	1986;	
and

•	 Contaminated	Sites	Act	2003.

11.5 Reportable expenditure

The Electoral Act 1907 (section 175 
ZE) requires the disclosure of certain 
categories of expenditure. Details of the 
organisations contracted and the amounts 
paid for the financial year are as follows:

Advertising $1,070,335

THE	BRAND	AGENCY

Media Advertising $1,048,715

MITCHELL AND PARTNERS 
AUSTRALIA	PTY	LTD/
ADCORP AUSTRALIA 
LIMITED

Market Research $190,966

AQUENTA	CONSULTING	
PTY	LTD

EDENTIFY	PTY	LTD

JONES LANG LASALLE

METRIX	CONSULTING	PTY	
LTD

PAINTED DOG RESEARCH

PATTERSON

REALESTATE.COM.AU	PTY	
LTD

RESEARCH SOLUTIONS

STUDIO 53

SWOON DESIGN

SYSTEMS	EDGE	
MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
PTY	LTD

WEST COAST FIELD

Direct mail $0

Polling $0

Total Expenditure $2,310,016
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12. Diversity and Equity

LandCorp promotes diversity and equal 
employment opportunity (EEO) in the 
workplace. To achieve this, policies 
are in place to create awareness and 
eliminate discrimination and harassment, 
particularly on grounds covered by EEO 
legislation. 

LandCorp also maintains an EEO 
Management Plan that includes strategies 
to promote equality of opportunity for all 
employees and prospective employees. 
This Plan includes targets for various 
diversity groups, including Aboriginal 
Australians, people with disabilities and 
women in management, and these targets 
are monitored and reported to the Board.

The following table provides a summary of 
the targets and respective outcomes as at 
30 June 2013:

LandCorp 
Target 

2012/13 
%

LandCorp 
Actual 

@30/6/13 
%

Women in 
management* 
(%)

32.5 30.0

Aboriginal 
Australians 
(%)

3.0 1.8

People with 
disabilities 
(%)

3.0 3.1

*Women in management is the percentage of 

females in the senior leadership group

13. LandCorp’s Commitment to 
Occupational Safety and Health 
and Injury Management

The health, safety and wellbeing of 
LandCorp’s people are essential to the 
success and sustainability of the business. 
LandCorp is committed to promoting a 
workplace culture where health and safety 
are fundamental aspects of our day-to-
day business practice.

In achieving this LandCorp will:

1. Comply with all applicable legislations, 
regulations, Government approvals, 
licence conditions, standards AS/NZ 
4801:2001 and codes of practice. 

2. Define the critical elements and 
requirements to identify, eliminate 
and minimise health and safety risks 
and hazards, so as to provide a safe 
work environment. 

3. For our employees and visitors, 
demonstrate health and safety 
leadership by developing a culture 
which supports compliance, reporting 
and distribution of health and safety 
material to enhance the focus on 
prevention. 

4. For our external stakeholders, 
communicate, consult and engage with 
our clients, contractors, consultants, 
the community and all other parties 
on health and safety matters to 
improve safety culture, compliance 
and performance. 

5. Ensure appropriate information, 
training and supervision are 
maintained. 

6. Record and investigate incidents 
and non compliances within our 
operations and implement actions or 
programs for future prevention.

7. Review and improve our Occupational 
Safety and Health management 
systems so that we deliver a 
measurable high standard of health 
and safety performance. 

8. Drive the continued improvement 
process by establishing measurable 
objectives and targets. 

9. Guide and support our employees 
and management team with an 
effective system of rehabilitation and 
return to work for injured employees. 

13.1 Occupational Safety and Health 
Consultation

LandCorp has an orientation process 
which encompasses Occupational Safety 
and Health matters. All employees and 
embedded contractors are provided with 
an overview of LandCorp’s policy and 
procedures, which outline LandCorp’s 
commitment to the safety, health and 
wellbeing of all personnel. 

LandCorp encourages employees to 
discuss Occupational Safety and Health 
issues with the Occupational Safety 
and Health Safety Coordinator for 
consideration and remediation if required.

13.2 LandCorp’s Statement of 
Compliance to Injury Management

LandCorp is committed to providing injury 
management support to all workers who 
sustain a work related injury or illness 
with a focus on safe and early return to 
meaningful work and in accordance with 
the Worker’s Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981.

13.3 Occupational Safety and Health 
Management Systems

LandCorp ensures its Occupational 
Safety and Health Management System is 
monitored and audited on a cyclical basis. 
Internal audits from KPMG reviewed the 
system process in December 2012.

The LandCorp Project Procedures Manual 
contains comprehensive occupational 
safety and health processes for use by all 
operational staff, who must comply with 
company policy and ensure our staff and 
contractors implement health and safety 
management practices for all site-based 
and external projects.
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13.4 2012 / 2013 Performance

Number of fatalities Nil

Lost time injury/diseases 
(LTI/D) incidence rate

Nil

Lost time injury severity 
rate

Nil

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to work 
within 28 weeks

NA

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational 
safety, health and 
injury management 
responsibilities

See notes 
below

Note:
All employees are provided with 
occupational safety and health training 
as a component of their employment 
orientation. Project Managers are also 
provided with more in-depth training 
to enable them to fulfil their roles at 
LandCorp. In line with AS4801, LandCorp 
is increasing the emphasis on staff 
awareness for office and site safety and 
how to manage hazards proactively to 
avoid incidents.

The LandCorp Project Procedures Manual 
is an essential guide to occupational 
safety and health implementation and 
processes for all site based projects.

All project-related personnel are 
required to hold a Construction Induction 
Card (White Card), to indicate these 
employees possess sufficient safety 
awareness for attendance on construction 
sites. Approximately 71% of LandCorp 
employees hold a valid White Card, 
representing 100% of project-related staff.

All LandCorp and contractor injuries are 
reported to the Board monthly, and all 
serious injuries are reported to the Chief 
Executive Officer and Senior Management 
immediately.
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Comparison	of	LandCorp’s	Corporate	Governance	Principles	to	Relevant	ASX	Corporate	
Governance	Principles	and	Recommendations

Principle / recommendation Comply Corporate 
Governance Report 

Reference

Principle 1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

Recommendation  
1.1

Companies should establish the functions reserved to the board and 
those delegated to senior executives and disclose those functions

✓ 2.1, 2.3

Recommendation  
1.2

Companies should disclose the process of evaluating the performance of 
senior executives.

✓ 6

Recommendation  
1.3

Provide the information indicated in the guide to reporting on ASX 
Principle 1

✓ No departures noted

Principle 2 Structure the board to add value

Recommendation  
2.1

A majority of the board should be independent directors ✓ 2.2

Recommendation  
2.2

The chair should be an independent director ✓ 2.2

Recommendation  
2.3

The roles of the chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised 
by the same individual

✓ 2.2, 2.3

Recommendation  
2.4

The board should establish a nomination committee N/A 2.2

Recommendation  
2.5

Companies should disclose the process for evaluating the performance 
of the board, its committees and individual directors

✓ 6

Recommendation  
2.6

Companies should disclose:
-  the skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director 

held by each director in office at the date of the annual report.

✓ Refer Directors’ 
Report

-  the names of the directors considered by the board to constitute 
independent directors and the company’s materiality thresholds.

✓ 2.2

-  the existence of any of the relationships listed in 2.1 and an 
explanation of why the board considers a director to be independent, 
notwithstanding the existence of those relationships.

N/A 2.2

-  a statement as to whether there is a procedure agreed by the board 
for directors to take independent professional advice at the expense of 
the company

✓ 5

-  the period of office held by each director in office at the date of the 
annual report.

✓ Refer Directors’ 
Report

-  the names of members of the nomination committee and their 
attendance at meetings of the committee, or where a company does 
not have a nomination committee, how the functions of a nomination 
committee are carried out, whether a performance evaluation for the 
board, its committees and directors has taken place in the reporting 
period and whether it was in accordance with the process disclosed.

N/A 3.2, 6

-  an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 
2.4, 2.5 or 2.6

✓ No departures noted
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Principle 3 Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

Recommendation 
3.1

Companies should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or 
a summary of the code as to:

✓ 8

-  the practises necessary to maintain confidence in the company’s 
integrity

✓

LandCorp’s Code of 
Conduct is available 
on Staff and Board 
Intranet websites.

-  the practises necessary to take into account their legal obligations and 
the reasonable expectations of their stakeholders

✓

-  the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical practices

✓

Recommendation 
3.2

Companies should establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose 
the policy or a summary of that policy. The policy should include 
requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity and for the board to assess annually both the 
objectives and progress in achieving them.

✓ 12

Recommendation 
3.3

Companies should disclose in each annual report the measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity set by the board in accordance 
with the diversity policy and progress towards achieving them.

✓ 12 

Recommendation 
3.4

Companies should disclose in each annual report the proportion of 
women employees in the whole organisation, women in senior executive 
positions and women on the board

✓ 12  

Recommendation 
3.5

Companies should provide the following information:
-  an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 

3.4 or 3.5
-  any diversity policy or summary.

✓ 12

Principle 4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting  

Recommendation 
4.1

The board should establish an audit committee. ✓ 3.1

Recommendation 
4.2

The audit committee should be structures so that it:
-  consists only of non-executive directors
-  consists of a majority of independent directors
-  is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of the board
-  has at least three members. 

✓ 3.1

Recommendation 
4.3

The audit committee should have a formal charter  ✓ 3.1

Recommendation 
4.4

The following material should be included in the corporate governance 
statement in the annual report:
-  the names and qualifications of those appointed to the audit 

committee and their attendance at meetings of the committee, or, 
where a company does not have an audit committee, how the functions 
of an audit committee are carried out

✓ Refer Directors’ 
Report

-  the number of meetings of the audit committee   ✓ Refer Directors’ 
Report

-  explanation of any departures from Recommendations 4.1, 4.2, 4.3 or 
4.4

✓ No departures noted
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Principle 5 Make timely and balanced disclosure

Recommendation 
5.1

Companies should establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance and 
disclose those policies or a summary of those policies

N/A N/A

Recommendation 
5.2

An explanation of any departures from Recommendations 5.1 or 5.2 
should be included in the corporate governance statement in the annual 
report.

N/A N/A

Principle 6 Respect the rights of shareholders 

Recommendation 
6.1

Companies should design a communications policy for promoting 
effective communication with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose their policy or a summary 
of that policy 

N/A The Minister for Lands 
is LandCorp’s sole 

shareholder. Regular 
meetings are held 

between the Board, 
CEO and Minister.

Recommendation 
6.2

An explanation of any departures from Recommendations 6.1 or 6.2 
should be included in the corporate governance statement in the annual 
report

N/A N/A

Principle 7 Recognise and manage risk 

Recommendation 
7.1

Companies should establish policies for the oversight and management 
of material business risks and disclose a summary of those policies

✓ 3.1, 10

Recommendation 
7.2

The board should require management to design and implement the 
risk management and internal control system to manage the company’s 
material business risks and report to it on whether those risks are being 
managed effectively. The board should disclose that management has 
reported to it as to the effectiveness of the company’s management of 
its material business risk.

✓ 3.1, 10

Recommendation 
7.3

The board should disclose whether it has received assurance from the 
Chief Executive Officer (or equivalent) and the Chief Financial Officer 
(or equivalent) that the declaration provided in accordance with section 
295a of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a sound system of 
risk management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting 
risks.  

N/A N/A

Recommendation 
7.4

An explanation of any departure from Recommendations 7.1, 7.2, 7.3 or 
7.4

✓ No departures noted
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Principle 8 Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Recommendation 
8.1

The board should establish a remuneration committee ✓ 3.2

Recommendation 
8.2

The remuneration committee should be structured so that it:
- consists of a majority of independent directors
- is chaired by an independent director
- has at least three members. 

✓ 3.2

Recommendation 
8.3

Companies should clearly distinguish the structure of non-executive 
directors’ remuneration from that of executive directors and senior 
executives

✓ Refer to the Directors’ 
Report

Recommendation 
8.4

The following material or a clear cross-reference to the location of the 
material should be included in the corporate governance statement in 
the annual report:

-  the names of the members of the remuneration committee and 
their attendance at meetings of the committee, or where a company 
does not have a remuneration committee, how the functions of a 
remuneration committee are carried out

✓ Refer to the Directors’ 
Report

-  the existence and terms of any schemes for retirement benefits, other 
than superannuation, for non-executive directors

N/A N/A

-  an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 8.1, 8.2, 8.3 
or 8.4. 

✓ No departures noted
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Financial Statements



Directors’ declaration

for the year ended 30 June 2013

The Directors declare that:

a) in the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto 
are in accordance with the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, including 
compliance with Australian Accounting Standards and giving a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the Western Australian Land Authority 
(LandCorp); and

b) in the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that LandCorp will 
be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable;

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Western 
Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

On behalf of the Directors

Caroline de Mori     Simon Read 
Director      Director

26 August 2013
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Auditor General

Page 1 of 2

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Parliament of Western Australia

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN LAND AUTHORITY

I have audited the financial report of the Western Australian Land Authority. The financial report
comprises the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of 
Cash Flows for the year then ended, Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information, and the Directors’ Declaration.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
The directors of the Western Australian Land Authority are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, my responsibility is to express 
an opinion on the financial report based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Authority’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial report.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing Standards, and other relevant ethical requirements.
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Page 2 of 2

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial report of the Western Australian Land Authority is in accordance 
with schedule 3A of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, including:

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and 
of its performance for the year ended on that date; and

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001.

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Report
This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the Western Australian Land Authority for 
the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the Authority’s website. The Authority’s management
is responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This audit does not provide assurance
on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from this financial report. If users of the financial report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy 
of the audited financial report to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial report.

COLIN MURPHY
AUDITOR GENERAL
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA
Perth, Western Australia
29 August 2013
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Statement of profit or loss and other  
comprehensive income

for the year ended 30 June 2013

2013 2012

Note $'000 $'000

Continuing Operations

Operating revenue 2(a)  490,760  568,741 

Operating expenses 2(b)  (327,399)  (348,542)

Gross	Profit  163,361  220,199 

Other revenue 2(a)  16,435  4,825 

Estate holding expenses  (44,539)  (32,246)

Employee benefit expenses  (30,325)  (26,574)

Consultant expenses  (4,111)  (2,741)

Advertising, public relations and sponsorship  (6,178)  (6,782)

Other expenses 2(b)  (20,990)  (17,424)

Results from operating activities  73,653  139,257 

Finance income 2(a)  3,398  3,213 

Finance costs  (8,077)  (7,824)

Net	finance	income/(costs)  (4,679)  (4,611)

Profit	before	income	tax  68,974  134,646 

Income tax expense 3  (20,695)  (40,400)

Profit	for	the	period  48,279  94,246 

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax

Items	that	may	be	reclassified	subsequently	to	profit	or	loss:

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses)  40  (102)

Income tax on other comprehensive income 3  (12)  31 

Other comprehensive costs for the period, net of income tax  28 	(71)

Total comprehensive income for the period  48,307  94,175 

The Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2013 2012

Note $'000 $'000
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 16(a)  28,089  9,994 

Receivables 4  87,530  96,666 

Inventories 5  484,929  480,274 

Other financial assets 6  10,000  3,006 

Other assets 10  56,905  64,407 

Total current assets  667,453  654,347 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables 4  22,662  23,036 

Inventories 5  333,419  274,622 

Investments in joint ventures 20  5,418  11,293 

Property, plant & equipment 7  297,200  307,019 

Intangibles 8  7,441  65 

Deferred tax assets 9  25,146  17,146 

Other assets 10  21,472  20,830 

Total non-current assets  712,758  654,011 

TOTAL ASSETS  1,380,211  1,308,358 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Payables 11  75,498  68,769 

Loans and borrowings 16(c)  225,953  130,478 

Current tax liabilities 12  10,094  2,569 

Provisions 13  69,150  52,933 

Other liabilities 14  18,672  11,941 

Total current liabilities  399,367  266,690 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 11  -   6,345 
Provisions 13  29,675  38,185 
Other liabilities 14  28,005  29,471 
Total non-current liabilities  57,680  74,001 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  457,047  340,691 

NET ASSETS  923,164  967,667 

EQUITY
Contributed equity 15  385,422  384,162 
Retained profits  537,742  583,505 
TOTAL EQUITY  923,164  967,667 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of financial position

as at 30 June 2013
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Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 30 June 2013

$’000 $'000 $'000
Equity 

contribution
Retained  
earnings  Total 

Balance at 1 July 2011  395,983  520,426  916,409 

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit or loss  -  94,246  94,246 

Other comprehensive income

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses) net of tax  -  (71)  (71)

Total other comprehensive income  -  (71)  (71)

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  94,175  94,175 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Dividends (note 25)  -  (31,096)  (31,096)

Distributions to owners (note 15)  (11,881)  -  (11,881)

Contributions of equity (note 15)  60  -  60 

Balance at 30 June 2012  384,162  583,505  967,667 

Balance at 1 July 2012  384,162  583,505  967,667 

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit or loss  -  48,279  48,279 

Other comprehensive income

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses) net of tax  -  28  28 

Total other comprehensive income  -  28  28 

Total comprehensive income for the period  -  48,307  48,307 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Dividends (note 25)  -  (94,070)  (94,070)

Distributions to owners (note 15)  -  -  - 

Contributions of equity (note 15)  1,260  -  1,260 

Balance at 30 June 2013  385,422  537,742  923,164 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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for the year ended 30 June 2013

Statement of cash flows

2013 2012

Note $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts from customers  571,372  454,774 

Community service obligation (CSO) contributions received  68,947  111,756 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (581,579)  (501,630)

Interest received  3,264  1,385 

Interest paid  (6,918)  (7,605)

Income tax paid  (21,181)  (44,834)

Net cash from operating activities 16(b)  33,905  13,846 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for investments  (411,967)  (140,869)

Proceeds on sale of investments  404,972  137,863 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (11,568)  (23,702)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  88  1 

Net cash used in investing activities 	(18,475) 	(26,707)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from equity contribution  1,260  60 

Proceeds from borrowings  107,874  108,947 

Repayment of borrowings  (12,399)  (73,469)

Payment of dividend  (94,070)  (31,096)

Net cash from financing activities  2,665  4,442 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  18,095  (8,419)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July  9,994  18,413 

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 16(a)  28,089  9,994 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2013

Financial Statements · Notes to the financial statements

Western Australian Land Authority 
(LandCorp) is the Western Australian 
Government’s land and property 
development agency with its office and 
principal place of business as follows:

Level 6 Wesfarmers House
40 The Esplanade
PERTH, WA 6000

LandCorp is a not-for-profit entity that 
is controlled by the State Government of 
Western Australia.

Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies

The following accounting policies have 
been adopted in the preparation of the 
financial statements. Unless otherwise 
stated these policies are consistent with 
those adopted in the previous year.

The financial statements were authorised 
for issue by the Directors on 26 August 
2013.

a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements constitute a 
general purpose financial report which 
has been prepared in accordance 
with the Western Australian Land 
Authority Act 1992, Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASBs) 
(including Australian Interpretations) 
adopted by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) except for 
AASB 8 Operating Segments, AASB 
120 Accounting for Government 
Grants and Disclosure of Government 
Assistance and AASB 124 Related 
Party Disclosures (which are not 
applicable to not-for-profit entities).

The statements have been prepared 
on the accrual basis of accounting 
using the historical cost convention. 
Accounting policies have been 
applied in a manner which ensures 
the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance 
and reliability.

b) Functional and presentation 
currency
The financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, 
which is both the functional and 
presentation currency of LandCorp.

c) Use of estimates and 
judgements
The preparation of financial 
statements in conformity with 
IFRSs requires management to 
make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results may differ from the estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which 
the estimate is revised and in any 
future periods affected. In particular, 
information about significant areas 
of estimation uncertainty and critical 
judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amount recognised in 
the financial statements are described 
in the following notes:

•	 Note	4	Receivables

•	 Note	5	Inventories

•	 Note	10	Other	assets

•	 Note	11	Payables

•	 Note	13	Provisions

•	 Note	19	Commitments

•	 Note	24	Contingent	liabilities

d) Application of new and 
revised Accounting Standards
i)	Standards	and	Interpretations	
affecting amounts reported in the 
current	period	(and/or	prior	periods)

The amendment (part of AASB 
2011-9 ‘Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Presentation 
of Items of Other Comprehensive 
Income’ introduce new terminology 
for the statement of comprehensive 
income and income statement. Under 
the amendments to AASB 101, the 
statement of comprehensive income 
is renamed as a statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income 
and the income statement is renamed 
as a statement of profit or loss. The 
amendments to AASB 101 retain the 
option to present profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income in either 
a single statement or in two separate 
but consecutive statements. However, 
the amendments to AASB 101 require 
items of other comprehensive income 
to be grouped into two categories 
in the other comprehensive income 
section: (a) items that will not be 
reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss and (b) items that may be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss when specific conditions are met. 

There are no new and revised 
Standards and Interpretations 
adopted in these financial statements 
affecting the reporting results or 
financial position.

ii)	Standards	and	Interpretations	in	
issue not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of the 
financial statements, the Standards 
and Interpretations listed below were 
in issue but not yet effective.
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)

Standard/Interpretation Effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially applied in the 
financial year ending

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and the 
relevant amending standards

1 January 2015 30 June 2016

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements and AASB 
2011-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the 
consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
standards

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entitles and AASB 2011-7 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements standards 

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and 
AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 128 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures (2011) and AASB 2011-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements standards

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 119 Employee Benefits (2011) and 
AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from Annual 
Improvements 2009-11 Cycle

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Transition 
Guidance and Other Amendments

1 January 2013 30 June 2014

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following IASB Standards and IFRIC Interpretations were also in issue but 
not yet effective, although Australian equivalent Standards and Interpretations have not yet been issued.

Standard/Interpretation Effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after

Expected to be initially applied in the 
financial year ending

None at time of publication.
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

e) Payables

 Payables, including accruals not yet 
billed, are recognised when LandCorp 
becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase 
of assets or services. Payables are 
generally settled within 30 days. 
Payables are measured initially at fair 
value and subsequently at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method.

f) Property, plant and 
equipment

(i)	Recognition	and	measurement

Items of property, plant and 
equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. Cost includes 
expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the 
asset. 

An item of property, plant and 
equipment may be gifted or 
contributed to LandCorp. Under these 
circumstances the deemed cost of the 
item is its fair value as at the date it 
was gifted or contributed.

(ii)	Subsequent	costs

The costs of replacing part of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in the carrying amount 
of the item if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits embodied 
within the part will flow to LandCorp 
and the cost can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. The costs of 
day-to-day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii)	Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the cost 
of an asset less its residual value. 
Property, plant and equipment having 
a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their useful lives 
in a manner which reflects the 
consumption of their future economic 
benefits. No depreciation is charged 
on freehold land. Depreciation is 
provided for on the straight line basis 
so as to write off the net cost of each 
asset over its expected useful life 
to its estimated residual value using 
rates which are reviewed annually. 

The following estimated useful lives are 
used in the calculation of depreciation 
for each class of depreciable asset 
unless another method provides a 
better estimate of useful life: 

a. Buildings    
 25 - 40 years

b. Furniture & Office Equipment  
4 - 10 years

c. Computer Equipment   
 3 years

d. Leasehold Improvements  
 3 years

e. Plant & Equipment   
 10 years

f. Infrastructure   
 22 years

The assets’ residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than 
$1,000 are expensed in the year of 
acquisition (other than where they 
form part of a group of similar items 
which are significant in total).

Capital Works in Progress includes 
expenditure on assets which are under 
construction but not substantially 
complete at reporting date.

g) Intangible assets

Computer software has a limited 
useful life and is carried at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment. Amortisation is charged 
on a straight line basis over an 
estimated useful life of four years, 
which is reviewed annually.

h) Employee benefits

(i)	Annual	and	long	service	leave

Provision is made for benefits accruing 
to employees in respect of salaries, 
annual leave and long service leave 
when it is probable that settlement 
will be required and they are capable 
of being measured reliably.

•	Long-term	employee	benefits:

LandCorp’s obligation in respect of 
long-term employee benefits other 
than defined benefit superannuation 
funds is the amount of future benefit 
that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current 
and prior periods plus related on-
costs. That benefit is discounted to 
determine its present value and the 
fair value of any related assets is 
deducted. 

The discount rate is 3.38% pa which 
was based on the Commonwealth 
Government bond rate at 30 June 
2013. (2012: 2.84% pa). The method 
used is the actuarial cost method. 
Any actuarial gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they arise.

The last actuarial assessment of 
long service leave was performed 
in July 2013 in respect of the year 
ended 30 June 2013. An assessment 
is carried out on an annual basis and 
will provide the basis for the liability 
reported.
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

h) Employee benefits (cont’d)

•	Short-term	benefits:

Liabilities for employee benefits 
for wages, salaries and annual 
leave represent present obligations 
resulting from employees services 
provided to reporting date and are 
calculated at undiscounted amounts 
based on the remuneration wage and 
salary rates that LandCorp expects 
to pay as at reporting date including 
related on-costs such as workers 
compensation insurance and payroll 
tax. Non-accumulating non-monetary 
benefits such as medical care and 
cars are expensed based on the net 
marginal cost to LandCorp as the 
benefits are taken by employees.

(ii)	Superannuation

•	Defined	contribution	superannuation	
funds:

Obligations for contributions to 
defined contribution superannuation 
funds are recognised as an expense in 
profit or loss when they are due.

•	Defined	benefit	superannuation	funds:

LandCorp does not have any defined 
benefit superannuation scheme. 
Certain employees of LandCorp are 
members of the Gold State Super 
which is a state plan funded by 
contributions from employers and 
LandCorp does not have any legal 
liability to cover any deficit arising 
from this scheme. However, certain 
employees of LandCorp who were 
former members of a pension scheme 
had transferred to Gold State Super 
prior to its closure. In respect of their 
transferred benefits these members 
receive a lump sum benefit at 
retirement, death or invalidity which 

is related to their salary during their 
employment and indexed during any 
deferral period after leaving public 
sector employment. 

The pre-transfer service benefits 
(which is unfunded) of these 
employees who transferred to the 
Gold State Super remains the liability 
of LandCorp and is determined by 
actuarial valuations carried out at 
each reporting date. Actuarial gains 
and losses are recognised in full in the 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income in the period 
which they occur.

i) Contributed equity

Capital contributions have been 
designated as contributions by 
owners and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity in the 
Statement of Financial Position only 
when such contributions have been 
designated by the Department of 
Treasury as a contribution by the 
owner at the time of or prior to the 
transfer.

j) Foreign currency

All foreign currency transactions 
during the year are brought to 
account using the exchange rate in 
effect at the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency monetary items at 
reporting date are translated at the 
exchange rate existing at that date. 
Exchange differences are recognised 
in profit or loss in the period in which 
they arise.

k) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of 
goods and services tax (GST), except:

•	 where	the	amount	of	GST	
incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority, it is 

recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part 
of an item of expense; or

•	 for	receivables	and	payables	which	
are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable 
from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash 
flow statement on a gross basis. The 
GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing and financing activities 
which is recoverable from, or payable 
to, the taxation authority is classified 
as operating cash flows.

l) Income tax

LandCorp entered into the National 
Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER) in 
2001/02 whereby an equivalent 
amount in respect of income tax 
is payable to the Department of 
Treasury. The calculation of the 
liability in respect of income tax is 
governed by NTER guidelines agreed 
by the State Government. The NTER 
is administered by the Australian 
Taxation Office.

As a consequence of participation 
in the NTER, LandCorp is required 
to comply with Accounting Standard 
AASB 112 “Income Taxes”.

(i)	Current	tax

Current tax is the expected tax 
payable or receivable on the taxable 
income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or subsequently 
enacted at the reporting date, and 
any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years. Current 
tax is calculated by reference to the 
amount of income taxes payable or 
recoverable in respect of the taxable 
profit or loss for the period. It is 
calculated using tax rates and 
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

l) Income tax (cont’d)

tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by reporting 
date. Current tax for current and 
prior periods is recognised as a 
liability (or asset) to the extent it is 
unpaid (or refundable).

(ii)	Deferred	tax

Deferred tax is accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
recognised for temporary differences 
at the tax rates expected to apply 
when the assets are recovered or 
liabilities are settled. The relevant tax 
rates are applied to the cumulative 
amounts of deductible and taxable 
temporary differences to measure 
the deferred tax asset or liability. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are not recognised if the temporary 
differences giving rise to them arise 
from the initial recognition of assets 
and liabilities (other than as a result of 
a business combination) which affects 
neither taxable income nor accounting 
profit. Furthermore, a deferred tax 
liability is not recognised in relation to 
taxable temporary differences arising 
from the recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for 
deductible temporary differences only 
if it is probable that future taxable 
amounts will be available to utilise 
those temporary differences.

In determining the amount of current 
and deferred tax LandCorp takes into 
account the impact of uncertain tax 
positions and whether additional taxes 
and interest may be due. LandCorp 
believes that its accruals for tax 
liabilities are adequate for all open 
tax years based on its assessment of 

many factors, including interpretations 
of tax law and prior experience. 
This assessment relies on estimates 
and assumptions and may involve a 
series of judgements about future 
events. New information may become 
available that causes LandCorp to 
change its judgement regarding the 
adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such 
changes to tax liabilities will impact 
tax expense in the period that such a 
determination is made. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset if there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax liabilities 
and assets, and they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, 
or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a basis or their tax 
assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

m) Inventory – land held for sale

Land held for sale comprising 
development properties are carried 
at the lower of cost or net realisable 
value (based on undiscounted 
cash flows). Cost includes the cost 
of acquisition and development. 
Amounts are disclosed as current 
where it is anticipated that land will 
be developed ready for sale within 
twelve months after reporting date. 
Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price less all 
estimated costs of completion and 
costs necessary to make the sale.

n) Unincorporated joint venture 
operations

LandCorp’s interest in unincorporated 
joint ventures (classified as jointly 
controlled operations) are brought to 
account by recognising in its financial 
statements the assets it controls, the 

liabilities that it incurs, the expenses it 
incurs and its share of income that it 
earns from sale of goods by the joint 
venture.

o) Joint venture entities

LandCorp’s interest in joint venture 
entities over whose activities 
LandCorp has joint control, 
established by contractual agreement 
and requiring unanimous consent 
for strategic financial and operating 
decisions, are accounted for using the 
equity method.

p) Lease arrangements

Leases are classified at their inception 
as either operating or finance leases 
based on the economic substance 
of the agreement so as to reflect 
the risks and benefits incidental to 
ownership. 

Leases in terms of which LandCorp 
(as a lessee) assumes substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Upon 
initial recognition, the leased asset is 
measured at an amount equal to the 
lower of its fair value and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
asset is accounted for in accordance 
with the accounting policy applicable 
to that asset.

Leases other than finance leases are 
operating leases and where LandCorp 
is the lessee in an operating lease 
arrangement, leased assets are not 
recognised on the balance sheet. 

LandCorp is a lessor in a number of 
operating leases of industrial, grazing 
and residential property. These assets 
are recognised on the balance sheet as 
items of property plant and equipment 
or inventory. Refer to note 1(f) and 
note 1(m) for accounting treatment.
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

q) Lease payments

LandCorp is a lessee in a number of 
operating leases. Payments made 
under operating leases are recognised 
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognised 
as an integral part of the total lease 
expense, over the term of the lease.

Minimum lease payments made 
under finance leases are apportioned 
between the finance expense and the 
reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance expense is allocated to 
each period during the lease term so 
as to produce a constant periodic rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. Contingent lease payments 
are accounted for by revising the 
minimum lease payments over the 
remaining term of the lease when the 
lease adjustment is confirmed.

r) Provisions

Provisions are recognised if, as the 
result of a past event, LandCorp 
has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated 
reliably, and it is probable that an 
outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. 
The amount recognised as a 
provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at reporting 
date, taking into account the risks 
and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. 

Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability.

When some or all of the economic 
benefits required to settle a provision 
are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually 
certain that recovery will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can 
be measured reliably.

Provision	for	future	development	
obligations

This provision represents estimated 
cash outflows to meet future 
development obligations in respect 
of land which has been sold or 
developed ready for sale. These 
amounts are recorded against Work in 
Progress for each project.

Onerous Contracts

Present obligations arising under 
onerous contracts are recognised and 
measured as a provision. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist where 
LandCorp has a contract under which 
the unavoidable costs of meeting the 
obligations under the contract exceed 
the economic benefits expected to be 
received under it.

s) Financial Assets

Financial assets are classified into the 
following specified categories: financial 
assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, held-to-maturity investments, 
available-for-sale financial assets 
and loans and receivables. The 
classification depends on the nature 
and purpose of the financial assets 
and is determined at the time of 
initial recognition. All regular way 
purchases or sales of financial assets 
are recognised and derecognised 
on a trade date basis. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the time 
frame established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace. 

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a 
method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over 
the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees on points 
paid or received that form an integral 
part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected 
life of the debt instrument, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to 
the net carrying amount on initial 
recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective 
interest basis for debt instruments 
other than those financial assets 
classified as at FVTPL.

Held-to-maturity investments 

Commercial bills and term deposits 
with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturity dates that 
LandCorp has the positive intent 
and ability to hold to maturity 
are classified as held-to-maturity 
investments. Held-to-maturity 
investments are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any impairment. 

Loans and receivables 

Trade receivables, loans, and other 
receivables that have fixed or 
determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market are 
classified as ‘loans and receivables’. 
Loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. 
Interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate, 
except for short-term receivables 
when the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

s) Financial Assets (cont’d)

Trade receivables and other 
receivables expected to be received 
later than 180 days are measured at 
amortised cost, less any impairment 
losses. 

Derecognition	of	financial	assets

LandCorp derecognises a financial 
asset only when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another party. If 
LandCorp neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, 
LandCorp recognises its retained 
interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to 
pay. If LandCorp retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a transferred financial asset, 
LandCorp continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises 
a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received. On derecognition 
of a financial asset in its entirety, 
the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and 
receivable and the cumulative gain 
or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity is recognised in 
profit or loss.

t) Receivables

Trade receivables and other 
receivables expected to be received 
within 180 days are recognised at face 
value, less any impairment losses. 

u) Impairment of assets 

Non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of LandCorp’s 
assets, other than deferred tax 
assets, are reviewed at each reporting 
date to determine whether there 
are any indicators of impairment. 
If any such indication exists then 
the asset’s recoverable amount is 
estimated. For intangible assets that 
have an indefinite life or are not yet 
available for use, recoverable amount 
is estimated annually and whenever 
there is an indication of impairment.

An impairment loss is recognised 
if the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised 
in profit or loss. The recoverable 
amount of an asset is the greater of 
its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing the value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods are assessed at each 
reporting date for any indications 
that a loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is 
reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the amount that 
would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised in 
prior periods.

Financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at 

fair value through profit or loss, are 
assessed for indicators of impairment 
at each balance sheet date. Financial 
assets are impaired where there is 
objective evidence that as a result 
of one or more events that occurred 
after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset the estimated future 
cash flows of the investment have 
been impacted. For financial assets 
carried at amortised cost, the amount 
of the impairment is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial 
asset is reduced by the impairment 
loss directly for all financial assets 
with the exception of trade 
receivables where the carrying 
amount is reduced through the use of 
an allowance account. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited 
against the allowance account. 
Changes in the carrying amount of the 
allowance account are recognised in 
profit or loss.

v) Revenue recognition

Revenue from land sales is recognised 
when all the following conditions are 
satisfied:

•	 LandCorp	has	transferred	to	the	
buyer the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the land;

•	 LandCorp	retains	neither	
the continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the land;

•	 the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	
reliably measured;
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Note 1 Summary of significant 
accounting policies (cont’d)

v) Revenue recognition (cont’d)

•	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	
benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to LandCorp; 
and 

•	 the	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	
in respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably.

Rent revenue from operating leases 
is recognised as income on a straight 
line basis over the rental term. 

Royalty revenue is recognised on an 
accruals basis in accordance with the 
substance of the relevant agreement.

Interest revenue is recognised on a 
time proportionate basis that takes 
into account the effective yield on the 
principal sum of the financial asset.

Project management revenue 
is recognised in profit or loss in 
proportion to the stage of completion 
of the transaction at the reporting 
date. The stage of completion is 
assessed by reference to surveys of 
work performed. 

Services received free of charge are 
recognised as revenue when and 
only when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would 
have been purchased if they had not 
been donated. Consequently, use of 
those resources is recognised as an 
expense.

Unearned revenue comprises prepaid 
rental income, upfront capital lease 
payments and partnering agreement 
participation fees received but not 
yet earned. Unearned revenue is 
released to income as and when the 
services for which it was paid are 
delivered. 

w) Community Service 
Obligation (CSO) project 
funding

LandCorp receives CSO funding for 
certain projects from the Department 
of Treasury and other Government 
agencies as a contribution towards 
either holding costs, land acquisitions 
or land development and associated 
costs. This funding is required to 
ensure LandCorp achieves its hurdle 
rate of return on these projects 
and is recognised as revenue in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
when received by LandCorp. 

x) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and 
demand deposits. Cash equivalents 
are highly liquid investments with 
short periods to maturity which is 
readily convertible to cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, net of outstanding 
bank overdrafts.

y) Investments

LandCorp has investments 
in commercial bills and term 
deposits which are recognised and 
derecognised on trade date where the 
purchase or sale of an investment is 
under a contract whose terms require 
delivery of the investment within the 
timeframe established by the market 
concerned, and are initially measured 
at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investments in commercial bills 
and term deposits are recorded at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less impairment, with 
revenue recognised on an effective 
yield basis.

z) Rounding

All amounts in the financial report 
have been rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars unless otherwise 
indicated.

aa) Comparative amounts

When the presentation or 
classification of items in the financial 
report is amended, comparative 
amounts are reclassified unless the 
reclassification is impracticable. When 
comparative amounts are reclassified, 
LandCorp discloses:

•	 the	nature	of	the	classification;

•	 the	amount	of	each	item	or	class	
of items that is reclassified; and 

•	 the	reason	for	the	reclassification.
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Notes to the financial statements

for the year ended 30 June 2013

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 2 Profit before income tax
Profit before income tax includes the following items of 
revenue and expense

a)	Revenue
Operating revenue
Land sales  333,665  380,581 
Grants to fund Community service obligation (CSO) projects  41,309  83,762 

Property management revenue

  - Rent revenue  78,045  67,508 
  - Expenses recovery  7,501  6,572 
Grants to fund Community service obligation (CSO) projects - holding costs  27,638  27,995 
Royalties  533  464 
Project management revenue  2,069  1,859 
Total operating revenue  490,760  568,741 

Other revenue
Joint venture share of profits  -   975 
Equity share income  -   162 
Participation fees  5,214  760 
Other  11,221  2,928 
Total other revenue  16,435  4,825 
Non-operating revenue
Interest revenue  3,398  3,213 
Total non-operating revenue  3,398  3,213 

Total other revenue  19,833  8,038 

b)	Expenses	from	ordinary	activities
Operating costs  (220,248)  (260,319)
Cost of sales  (58,497)  (56,643)
CSO project expenditure  (7,255)  -  
Share of joint venture losses  (41,399)  (31,580)
Property management expenses  (327,399)  (348,542)
Total operating costs

Other expenses from operating activities
Administration expenses  (5,225)  (4,707)
Accommodation expenses  (1,615)  (1,850)
Land study expenses  (231)  (154)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  (35)  (160)
Depreciation and amortisation  (13,766)  (10,480)
Other expenses  (118)  (73)
Total other expenses from ordinary activities 	(20,990) 	(17,424)
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 3 Income tax expense

Current tax expense

Current period  28,706  27,569 

 28,706  27,569 

Deferred	tax	expense

Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (7,999)  12,800 

Change in unrecognised temporary differences  -   -  

 (7,999)  12,800 

Income tax expense from continuing operations  20,707  40,369 

Total income tax expense  20,707  40,369 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income

Before tax

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses)  40  (102)

 40  (102)

Tax	(expense)	benefit

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses)  (12)  31 

 (12)  31 

Net of tax

Defined benefit plan actuarial gains (losses)  28  (71)

 28  (71)

Numerical reconciliation between tax expense and pre-tax 
accounting profit

Total comprehensive income for the period  48,307  94,175 

Total income tax expense  20,707  40,369 

Profit	excluding	income	tax  69,014  134,544 

Income tax using LandCorps domestic rate of 30% (2012: 30%)  20,704  40,363 

Non-deductible expenses  3  3 

Tax incentives  -   3 

Total income tax expense  20,707  40,369 
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 4 Receivables

Current

Trade receivables  76,496  87,166 

Less allowance for doubtful debts  (218)  (117)

 76,278  87,049 

GST receivable  11,252  9,617 

Total current receivables  87,530  96,666 

Non-current

Trade receivables  22,662  23,036 

Note 5 Inventories

Current - land under development and developed land

at cost  467,886  461,827 

at net realisable value  17,043  18,447 

Total current inventories  484,929  480,274 

Non-current - undeveloped land

at cost  322,148  263,351 

at net realisable value  11,271  11,271 

Total non-current inventories  333,419  274,622 

Land held for sale comprises

Cost of acquisition  391,594  356,973 

Development costs  426,754  397,923 

Total inventories  818,348  754,896 

The most recent valuations of undeveloped land held for sale, which have not been recognised in the financial statements, were 
valuations at 1 January 2013 as provided by The Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations of 
developed land held for sale, which have not been recognised in the financial statements, have been determined taking into account 
advice from independent valuers and real estate agents in accordance with LandCorp’s list price and valuation policies and under 
relevant delegated authorities. List prices are generally reviewed at least twice a year (depending on the type of land) except during 
static market conditions whereby prices may be reviewed less frequently under the instruction of a relevant delegated authority.

Market value of developed land and undeveloped land held at 30 June 2013 amounted to $2,114,896,000 (2012: $2,206,269,000).

At 30 June 2013 the write-down of inventories to net realiseable value amounted to $4,365,000 (2012: $9,129,000). There were no 
reversal of write-downs. The write-downs are included in cost of sales.
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 6 Other financial assets

Current

Commercial bills/ investments (note 21(a))  10,000  3,006 

Note 7 Property, plant and equipment

Non-Current

Capital 
Works in 
Progress

$’000

Freehold 
Land
$'000

Buildings
$'000

Infra-
structure

$’000
Equipment

$’000
Total
$’000

Cost or deemed cost

Balance at 30 June 2011  3,582  66,981  27,813  25,821  197,784  321,981 

Additions  7,776  7,291  -   -   8,634  23,701 

Cost revisions  -   679  -   707  6,341  7,727 

Reclassification  (6,404)  -   -   -   -   (6,404)

Disposals  -   (569)  (198)  -   (748)  (1,515)

Balance at 30 June 2012  4,954  74,382  27,615  26,528  212,011  345,490 

Additions  1,414  -   -   786  2,200 

Cost revisions  -   -   -   4,865  4,865 

Reclassification  (4,998)  -   -   -   -   (4,998)

Disposals  -   -   -   (374)  (374)

Balance at 30 June 2013 	(44)  75,796  27,615  26,528  217,288  347,183 

Accumulated depreciation            

Balance at 30 June 2011  (7,662)  (6,383)  (14,947)  (28,992)

Disposals  81  -   764  845 

Reclassification  -   -   -   -  

Depreciation expense  (999)  (1,176)  (8,149)  (10,324)

Balance at 30 June 2012  (8,580)  (7,559)  (22,332)  (38,471)

Disposals  -   -   271  271 

Reclassification  -   -   -   -  

Depreciation expense  (998)  (1,169)  (9,616)  (11,783)

Balance at 30 June 2013 	(9,578) 	(8,728) 	(31,677) 	(49,983)

Carrying amounts

at 30 June 2012  4,954  74,382  19,035  18,969  189,679  307,019 

at 30 June 2013  (44)  75,796  18,037  17,800  185,611  297,200 

LandCorp obtained valuations from Valuation Services to support the carrying value of freehold land included in property, plant and 
equipment based on their estimated market value at 1 January 2013. Market value of freehold land at 30 June 2013 was $366,034,000 
(2012: $351,323,000).
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Note 8 Intangible assets

Non-current

Computer 
software 

$’000

Cost

Balance at 30 June 2011  1,440 

Additions  33 

Cost revisions  (69)

Disposals  -  

Balance at 30 June 2012  1,404 

Additions  9,368 

Cost revisions  -  

Disposals  -  

Balance at 30 June 2013  10,772 

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 30 June 2011 	(1,183)

Disposals  -  

Amortisation expense  (156)

Balance at 30 June 2012 	(1,339)

Disposals  -  

Amortisation expense  (1,992)

Balance at 30 June 2013 	(3,331)

Carrying amounts

at 30 June 2012  65 

at 30 June 2013  7,441 
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Non-current

Deferred tax asset  25,146  17,146 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

Deferred	tax	assets	have	not	been	recognised	in	respect	of	the	
following	items:

Deductible temporary differences  10,823  10,823 

 10,823  10,823 

The deductible temporary differences do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in 
respect of these items because they will only become available in the event that the underlying assets are held until utilisation of all 
capital works deductions.

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities and movement in temporary differences during the year    
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2013 

Temporary differences

Opening 
balance

$'000

Recognised 
in profit  

or loss
$'000

Under (over) 
provision in 

prior year
$’000

Recognised 
directly in 

equity
$’000

Closing 
balance

$’000

Inventories  25,226  (1,849)  311  -   23,688 

Property, plant and equipment  (2,610)  2,451  -   -   (159)

Accrued expenses  43  (4)  -   -   39 

Provision for superannuation  263  -   -   -   263 

Provision for annual leave  566  122  -   -   688 

Provision for long service leave  1,229  276  -   -   1,505 

Provision for doubtful debts  35  30  -   -   65 

Non-current receivable - long term debtors  37  (37)  -   -   -  

Joint venture income recognition  2,737  3,851  -   -   6,588 

Licence fee income recognition  1,320  (1,320)  -   -   -  

Provision for future development obligation  7,987  (4,071)  -   -   3,916 

Accrued interest income  24  (36)  -   -   (12)

Recognition of long leases  -   1,931  -   -   1,931 

Income received in advance  (17,227)  5,456  -   -   (11,771)

Joint venture development costs  (2,483)  888  -   -   (1,595)

 17,147  7,688  311  -   25,146 
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Note 9 Deferred tax assets and liabilities (cont’d)       

2012 

Temporary differences

Opening 
balance

$'000

Recognised 
in profit  

or loss
$'000

Under (over) 
provision in 

prior year
$’000

Recognised 
directly in 

equity
$’000

Closing 
balance

$’000

Inventories  27,312  (2,086)  -   -   25,226 

Property, plant and equipment  5,192  188  (7,990)  -   (2,610)

Accrued expenses  40  3  -   -   43 

Provision for superannuation  222  41  -   -   263 

Provision for annual leave  496  70  -   -   566 

Provision for long service leave  1,073  156  -   -   1,229 

Provision for doubtful debts  15  20  -   -   35 

Non-current receivable - long term debtors  71  (34)  -   -   37 

Joint venture income recognition  3,417  (1,040)  360  -   2,737 

Licence fee income recognition  3,300  (1,980)  -   -   1,320 

Provision for future development obligation  7,752  235  -   -   7,987 

Accrued interest income  12  12  -   -   24 

Income received in advance  (8,711)  (7,917)  (599)  -   (17,227)

Joint venture development costs  (2,015)  (468)  -   -   (2,483)

 38,176 	(12,800) 	(8,229)  -   17,147 

Movement in unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year

Balance 
1 July 11

$'000
Recognised

$'000

Balance 
30 June 12

$’000
Recognised

$’000

Balance 30 
Jun 12
$’000

Deductible temporary differences  10,823  -   10,823  -   10,823 



93

Financial Statements · Notes to the financial statements

2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 10 Other assets

Current

Deposit bonds  1,290  924 

Deposits for land acquisitions  24,786  37,005 

Prepayments  30,829  26,478 

Total current other assets  56,905  64,407 

Non-current

Deposits for land acquisitions  21,472  20,830 

Note 11 Payables

Current

Trade payables  22,459  22,986 

Accrued expenses  41,237  33,231 

GST payable  11,802  12,552 

Total current payables  75,498  68,769 

Non-current

Accrued expenses  -   6,345 

Note 12 Tax liabilities

Current

Income tax payable  10,094  2,569 
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 13 Provisions

Current

Employee benefits (note 18(a))  5,142  4,269 

Future development obligations (note 17)  64,008  48,664 

Total current provisions  69,150  52,933 

Non-current

Employee benefits (note 18(a))  3,043  1,709 

Defined benefit superannuation plan (note 18(b))  6  886 

Future development obligations (note 17)  26,626  35,590 

Total non-current provisions  29,675  38,185 

Note 14 Other liabilities

Current

Deposits (i)  7,752  4,896 

Unearned revenue  10,920  7,045 

Total current other liabilities  18,672  11,941 

Non-current

Unearned revenue  8,005  9,471 

Other  20,000  20,000 

 28,005  29,471 

(i) Deposits include deposits received on sale of land.
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 15 Equity

Contributed equity

Opening	balance:

Capital contributed on formation  113,957  113,957 

Capital contributed by State Government  270,205  282,026 

 384,162  395,983 

Distributions to owners (i)  -   (11,881)

Capital contributed by State Government during the year (ii)  1,260  60 

Total contributed equity  385,422  384,162 

(i) Distributions to owners consists of Albany Waterfront boat harbour infrastructure transferred to the State of Western Australia 
(Department of Transport) in March 2012. 

(ii)	Capital	contributed	by	State	Government	during	the	year

Royalties for Regions Funding - Pilbara Cities Strategic Infrastructure  1,260  60 

Total capital contributed by State Government during the year  1,260  60 
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 16 Notes to the statement of cash flows

(a)	Reconciliation	of	cash

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash includes cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash 
and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents  28,089  9,994 

(b)	Reconciliation	of	cash	flows	from	operating	activities

Profit for the period  48,307  94,175 

Adjustments	for:

Sale of non-current assets loss  15  160 

Distributions to owners  1,260  (11,821)

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  13,766  10,480 

Income tax expense  20,707  40,369 

 84,055  133,363 

Assets	(increase)/	decrease

Receivables  9,510  (63,393)

Inventories  (63,452)  18,118 

Investments in joint ventures  5,875  5,298 

Other assets  (1,202)  (36,851)

Liabilities	increase/	(decrease)

Payables  384  22,673 

Provisions  7,707  (9,610)

Other liabilities  12,209  (10,918)

Cash generated from operating activities  55,086  58,680 

Net income tax paid  (21,181)  (44,834)

Net cash from operating activities  33,905  13,846 

(c)	Financing	facilities

Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call:

Amount used  -   -  

Amount unused  2,000  2,000 

 2,000  2,000 

Secured loan facilities with Western Australian Treasury 
Corporation (WATC)

Amount used  225,953  130,478 

Amount unused  -   -  

 225,953  130,478 
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 16 Notes to the statement of cash flows (cont’d)

Through the State Budget, Government has approved LandCorp’s borrowing projections based on cash flow estimates and the limits 
are as follows:

Borrowing limit  225,953  130,478 

"Intra-year" peak borrowings  331,953  250,000 

Note 17 Provisions - Future development obligations

Future 
Developments

Total

$'000 $'000

Balance at 30 June 2011  94,755  94,755 

Additional provisions recognised  84,254  84,254 

Reductions from payments  (94,755)  (94,755)

Balance at 30 June 2012  84,254  84,254 

Additional provisions recognised  90,634  90,634 

Reductions from payments  (84,254)  (84,254)

Balance at 30 June 2013  90,634  90,634 

Current at 30 June 2012 (note 13)  48,664  48,664 

Non-current at 30 June 2012 (note 13)  35,590  35,590 

 84,254  84,254 

Current at 30 June 2013 (note 13)  64,008  64,008 

Non-current at 30 June 2013 (note 13)  26,626  26,626 

 90,634  90,634 

Provisions have been raised where it is probable that LandCorp will have a future sacrifice of benefits that can be reliably measured in 
accordance with accounting policy outlined in note 1(r). 
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2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 18 Employee benefits

(a) The aggregate employee entitlement liability (other than under the defined benefit superannuation plan) recognised and included 
in the financial statements is as follows:

Current provision for employee benefits (note 13)  5,142  4,269 

Non-current provision for employee benefits (note 13)  3,043  1,709 

 8,185  5,978 

(b) Defined benefit superannuation plan

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial assumptions were as follows:

2013 2012
% %

Discount rate 3.38 2.84

Expected salary increase rate 5.00 5.50

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows:

2013 2012

$'000 $'000
Opening defined benefit obligation  886  747 

Interest cost  24  37 

Actuarial loss (gain)  (40)  102 

Employer contributions for benefits paid  (864)  -  

Closing defined benefit obligation  6  886 

Historical information

(Gold	State	Super)

2013
$'000

2012
$'000

2011
$’000

2010
$’000

2009
$’000

Present value of defined benefit obligation  6  886  747  702  653 

Fair value of scheme assets  -  -  -  -  - 

(Surplus)/deficit in scheme  6  886  747  702  653 

Experience adjustments (gain)/loss -  (39)  (40)  -  27  197 

scheme liabilities

The experience adjustment for Scheme liabilities represents the actuarial loss (gain) due to a change in the liabilities arising from 
the Scheme’s experience (eg membership movements, unit entitlements) and excludes the effect of the changes in assumptions (eg 
movements in the bond rate and changes in pensioner mortality assumptions).
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Note 18 Employee benefits (cont’d) 2014
(Gold	State	Super) $'000

Expected employer contributions -
2013 2012

$'000 $'000

Note 19 Commitments

(a)	Capital	commitments	expenditure
Development of land  64,378  134,882 
Community service obligation (project funding received in advance)  39,478  53,339 
Share of joint venture capital commitments  15  20 

 103,871  188,241 

(b)	Operating	lease	commitments
Operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 26(a)

2013 2012
% %

Note 20 Joint ventures
Interest

College Grove Joint Venture*  67  67 

Swanbourne Joint Venture  50  50 

* LandCorp shares in 50% of the net sale proceeds after deducting from gross sale proceeds the project expenditure, management 
fees and land costs as per the Joint Venture Agreement.

The final lots were sold during the year and it is expected that the College Grove Joint Venture will be wound down during the year.

Jointly controlled operations

The College Grove Joint Venture (classified as a jointly controlled operation) is involved in residential land development. LandCorp’s 
interests in assets in these joint ventures are included in the balance sheet under the following classifications:

Cash assets  4,117  2,143 

Current receivables  -   -  

Current inventories  1,821  3,168 

Current other assets  -   16 

Non-current inventories  -   -  

Current liabilities  (378)  (205)

Accrued expenses  -   (18)

Investment in joint ventures  -   (1,380)

Net assets  5,560  3,724 

Joint venture entities

The Swanbourne Joint Venture is involved in residential land development. LandCorp’s interests in the above joint venture is included 
in the balance sheet as an investment accounted for using the equity method, as follows:

Investment in joint ventures  5,418  12,673 

The final lots were sold during the year and it is expected that the Swanbourne Joint Venture will be wound down in the following year.
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Note 21 Financial risk management

LandCorp has exposure to the following risks from their use of financial instruments:
- credit risk       
- liquidity risk       
- market risk        

This note presents information about LandCorp’s exposure to each of the above risks, their objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the management of capital.       

The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management framework. The Board has established 
the Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for developing and monitoring risk management policies. The committee reports 
regularly to the Board on its activities.       

Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by LandCorp, to set appropriate risk limits and 
controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions and LandCorp’s activities. LandCorp, through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to 
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with LandCorp’s risk management policies and procedures and 
reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by LandCorp. The Audit Committee is assisted 
in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures, the results of which are reported to the Audit Committee.       

(a)	Credit	risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to LandCorp if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractural 
obligations, and arises principally from LandCorp’s receivables from customers and investments.  

Exposure to credit risk       

The carrying amount of LandCorp’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. LandCorp’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk at the reporting date was: 

Carrying amount

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Held-to-maturity and/or cash investments  10,000  3,006 
Loans and receivables  110,192  119,702 
Cash and cash equivalents  28,089  9,994 

 148,281  132,702 

Investments

LandCorp limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that have a credit rating 
of AA from Standard & Poor’s. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its 
obligations.

Trade and other receivables

LandCorp’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the nature of each type of debtor and a risk management approach is taken. 
Approximately 29% (2012: 26%) comprises debt from other Government agencies to be paid over time and is considered to be low risk. 
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Note 21 Financial risk management (cont’d)

It should be noted that due to the nature of LandCorp’s business, the vast majority of LandCorp’s revenue is received and recognised 
at the time of settlement of the sale of land, hence debtors make up a small proportion of LandCorp’s overall customer base.

New non-Government debtors are analysed individually for creditworthiness before LandCorp’s standard payment and delivery terms 
and conditions are offered.        

Given the one-off nature of land sales with LandCorp, less than 10% (2012: less than 10%) of LandCorp’s customers have transacted 
with LandCorp previously, and losses have occurred infrequently. In monitoring debtor credit risk, debtors are grouped according to 
their credit characteristics; whether they are a Government or non-Government debtor. Debtors that are graded as higher risk are 
monitored for late payment and may be subject to legal action.      

LandCorp has established an allowance for impairment that represents their estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade and other 
receivables. The allowance is a specific loss component that relates to individual exposures.    

LandCorp’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

       Carrying amount

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Australia  99,158  110,202 

LandCorp’s maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of debtor was:

Carrying amount

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Government debtors  36,018  13,414 
Non-Government debtors  63,140  96,788 

Impairment losses       

LandCorp’s receivables past due amount to $2,543,000 (2012: $1,144,000). The aging of LandCorp’s trade receivables at the reporting 
date was:

Trade receivables Gross Impairment

2013 2012 2013 2012
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Not past due  97,451  109,058  -   -  
Past due 1-30 days  479  751  -   -  
Past due 31-60 days  679  76  -   -  
Past due 61-90 days  8  15  -   -  
Past due 91-180 days  323  25  -   -  
Past due more than 181 days  218  277  218  117 

 99,158  110,202  218  117 
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Note 21 Financial risk management (cont’d) 

The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July  117  50 
Movement  101  67 
Balance 30 June  218  117 

Based on historic default rates, LandCorp believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past 
due or past due by up to 60 days.

The allowance accounts in respect of trade receivables and held-to-maturity investments are used to record impairment losses 
unless LandCorp is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amount is considered irrecoverable 
and is written off against the financial asset directly. At 30 June 2013 LandCorp does not have any collective impairments on its trade 
receivables or its held-to-maturity investments (2012: nil).

(b)	Liquidity	risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that LandCorp will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. LandCorp’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to LandCorp’s reputation. 

LandCorp uses market value to cost its land, which assists it in monitoring cash flow requirements and optimising its cash return on 
investments. Typically LandCorp ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period 
of 30 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot 
reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. In addition, LandCorp maintains the following lines of credit:   
-  $2 million bank overdraft facility that is unsecured. Interest would be payable at the bank’s published Corporate Overdraft Reference 

Rate less 100 basis points.       
-  $250 million (2012: $250 million) provided by WA Treasury Corporation (WATC) that can be drawn down to meet short and long-term 

financing needs. The facility has a flexible maturity that is renewable at the option of LandCorp. Interest would be payable at the 
WATC lending rate for this structure on the day the funds are advanced plus or minus 100 basis points.   

-   Guarantees established in favour of Commonwealth Bank of Australia for guarantees issued to various Government entities for 
satisfactory contract performance, secured by underlying land assets, amounting to $15.5million (2012 - $17.4 million). The limit of 
these facilities is $20 million (2012 - $20 million).     

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and excluding the impact of 
netting agreements: 

2013

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

%

Carrying 
Amount

$'000

Contractual 
cash flows

$’000

6 months or 
less

$’000
6-12 months

$’000

More than 1 
year

$’000

Trade and other payables  75,498  (75,498)  (72,288)  (2,047)  (1,163)

WATC loan 3.62%  225,953  (225,953)  (123,478)  (102,475)  - 

 301,451  (301,451)  (195,766)  (104,522)  (1,163)

2012

Trade and other payables  75,114  (75,114)  (72,482)  (1,498)  (1,134)

WATC loan 3.82%  130,478  (130,478)  (130,478)  -  - 

 205,592  (205,592)  (202,960)  (1,498)  (1,134)
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Note 21 Financial risk management  (cont’d)

(c)	Market	risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect LandCorp’s income 
or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk 
exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

LandCorp currently has no derivative arrangements.  

Currency risk       

LandCorp’s exposure to currency risk is immaterial.

LandCorp holds no foreign currency loans or other monetary assets and liabilities and incurs no foreign currency interest. 

Interest rate risk       

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of LandCorp’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

$’000 2013 2012

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets  38,089  13,000 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments:       

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) equity and profit or loss by the 
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 
2012.        

Profit or Loss

2013 100 bp 100 bp
$'000 increase decrease

Variable rate instruments  381  (381)

2012
$'000

Variable rate instruments  130  (130)
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Note 21 Financial risk management  (cont’d)

Fair values

Fair values versus carrying amounts      

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet, are as follows:

30 June 2013 30 June 2012

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value

Other financial assets  10,000  10,000  3,006  3,006 

Loans and receivables  110,192  110,192  119,702  119,702 

Cash and cash equivalents  28,089  28,089  9,994  9,994 

Trade and other payables  (75,498)  (75,498)  (75,114)  (75,114)

WATC loan  (225,953)  (225,953)  (130,478)  (130,478)

	(153,170) 	(153,170) 	(72,890) 	(72,890)

Capital Management     

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholder, creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
the future development of the business.         

The Board’s policy is referred to in Section 19 of the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992.

Under the Western Australian Land Authority Act 1992, LandCorp has agreed a dividend policy with its shareholder, the State 
Government, around a set formula. A balance is retained as a source of capital base for ongoing activities.  

There were no changes to LandCorp’s approach to capital management during the year.     

LandCorp is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.       
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2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Note 22 Land sales contracts

Unsettled sales contracts (i)  138,154  106,066 

(i) Unsettled sales contracts have not been included in revenue since neither title nor possession has been transferred. This treatment 
is in accordance with the Accounting Policy explained in note 1(u).

Note 23 Remuneration of auditors

Audit of the financial report  130  143 

Note 24 Contingent liabilities

The directors are of the opinion that LandCorp has no contingent liabilities.

Note 25 Dividends

Recognised amounts

Normal dividend  17,250  17,250 

Special dividends:

- AMC Common User Facility  13,290  13,290 

- Marketing expenditure  556  556 

- 5% Efficiency saving  974  -  

- LandCorp Corrective Measures  62,000  -  

 94,070  31,096 

In the August 2012, January 2013 and April 2013 Board meetings, the Board approved to recommend to the Minister a final dividend for 
2011/12 of $94,070,000. Total dividends paid in 2013: $94,070,000 (2012: $31,096,000) in respect of LandCorp’s operations.
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2013 2012
$'000 $'000

Note 26 Leasing arrangements

(a)	Operating	lease	commitments

LandCorp has its office premises and its motor vehicle fleet under non-cancellable operating leases. Total commitments for future 
lease payments which have not been provided for in the accounts are as follows:

No later than 1 year  1,658  2,141 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  6,728  6,770 

Later than 5 years  10,840  12,034 

 19,226  20,945 

(b)	Operating	lease	receivables	

LandCorp holds certain land and buildings for strategic purposes only. Such holdings are rentable properties and are treated as 
operating lease receivables. Total future lease receivables are as follows:

No later than 1 year  42,923  39,183 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  149,700  138,300 

Later than 5 years  106,328  113,175 

 298,951  290,658 

Leases are negotiated in terms between 2 to 5 years with the exception of certain contracts that last up to 50 years. Rental rates are 
subject to future adjustments based on the terms of the lease arrangements. Outstanding operating leases are based on existing rates 
and do not include the extension periods under option.

Note 27 Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly affected or 
may significantly affect LandCorp’s operations, the results of those operations, or LandCorp’s state of affairs in future financial years.
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